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DISTRICT COURT 

 
CLARK COUNTY, NEVADA 

 
ROWEN Seibel, an individual and citizen of 
New York, derivatively as Nominal Plaintiff on 
behalf of Real Party in Interest GR 
BURGR, LLC, a Delaware limited liability 
company; 
 
              Plaintiff, 
vs. 
 
PHWLV, LLC, a Nevada limited liability 
company; GORDON RAMSAY, an individual; 
 
              Defendants, 
 
and 
 
GR BURGR, LLC, a Delaware limited liability 
company, 
 
             Nominal Defendant. 
 

Case No.:  A-17-751759-B 
 
Dept. No.:  XV 
 
 
REPLY IN SUPPORT OF  
PLANET HOLLYWOOD'S  
MOTION TO DISMISS  
PLAINTIFF'S CLAIMS 
 
 
 
 
 
 
Date of Hearing:  May 17, 2017  
 
Time of Hearing:  9:00 a.m.  

 

I. INTRODUCTION 

 Seibel's Opposition does nothing to diminish the lack of merit in the claims identified by 

Planet Hollywood's Motion to Dismiss.  Seibel's portrayal of himself as a victim of a grand 

scheme, orchestrated by Planet Hollywood and Gordon Ramsay to oust him, is also a digression.  

The only scheme was of Seibel's making.  He is no victim.  Seibel is a sophisticated businessman 

who evaded paying U.S. taxes by hiding millions in a Swiss bank account, and "a restaurant 

entrepreneur who has developed and opened numerous, highly acclaimed restaurants throughout 

the country."  ('Pl.'s Opp'n to Def.'s Mot. to Dismiss 3:4-5, 6:2 - 4.)  Seibel's claims here are 

Case Number: A-17-751759-B

Electronically Filed
5/10/2017 2:48 PM
Steven D. Grierson
CLERK OF THE COURT
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simply another scheme.  This time, Seibel attempts to evade the plain language of his contract 

with Planet Hollywood. 

 The parties agree that the Development Agreement was unambiguous.  (Pl.'s Opp'n to 

Def.'s Mot. to Dismiss 8:11, 10:15, 17:4.)  Its interpretation, then, is a matter of law for this Court 

to determine.  And, as a matter of law, Seibel’s failure to plead sufficient facts upon which relief 

can be granted is fatal to certain of his claims for (1) breach of contract; (2) breach of the implied 

covenant of good faith and fair dealing; (3) unjust enrichment; (4) civil conspiracy; and 

(5) declaratory relief.  These claims must be dismissed, with prejudice.  

II.  ANALYSIS 

 A. Planet Hollywood's Motion to Dismiss Meets NRCP 12(b)(5)'s Standard. 

A court must dismiss a complaint that fails "to state a claim upon which relief can be 

granted."  NRCP 12(b)(5).  Where the facts taken as true do not state a legally cognizable claim, 

relief cannot be granted.  Munda v. Summerlin Life & Health Ins. Co., 127 Nev. 918, 923, 267 

P.3d 771, 774 (2011) (providing that the claim must "be legally sufficient to constitute the 

elements of the claim asserted").  As set out in Planet Hollywood's Motion to Dismiss, relief 

cannot be granted on a number of Plaintiff's claims.   

Plaintiff argues in his Opposition that Planet Hollywood "repeatedly asks this Court to 

assume Plaintiff's allegations are untrue, relies upon numerous, alleged 'facts' that are both false 

and not contained in the Complaint, and intentionally misconstrues the parties' contract and 

applicable law."  (Pl.'s Opp'n to Def.'s Mot. to Dismiss 2:16-19.)  Tellingly, Plaintiff's Opposition 

fails to identify any instances where Planet Hollywood asked this Court to assume allegations 

alternative to what Plaintiff alleged.  To the contrary, taking Plaintiffs' allegation as true, the 

claim must be dismissed as evident from the plain language of the Development Agreement and 

Plaintiff's Complaint alone. 

B. Plaintiff's Opposition Fails to Adequately Address Why His Breach of 
Contract Claims Should Not Be Dismissed. 

 

The interpretation of a contract based on the plain language of an agreement is a 

determination made as a matter of law.  LaForge v. State, Univ. & Cmty. Coll. Sys. of Nev., 
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116 Nev. 415, 422, 997 P.2d 130, 135 (2000).  Under the plain language of the agreement, the 

following of Seibel's causes of action for breach of contract must be dismissed: (1) breach of 

contract for continuing to do business with Ramsay (Claim 68(a)); (2) breach of contract for 

paying all or a portion of the license fees to Ramsay (Claim 68(e)); (3) breach of contract for 

refusing to allow GRB to cure its unsuitability (Claim 68(f)); and (4) breach of contract for 

attempting or planning to open a rebranded restaurant (Claim 68(h)).   

1. Plaintiff failed to state a claim for breach of the Development Agreement 
based on Planet Hollywood continuing to do business with Ramsay.  
(Claim 68(a).) 

 
On this issue, Plaintiff's Opposition both misses the point and incorrectly interprets the 

Development Agreement.  Planet Hollywood's position, put simply, is that the contract is plain.  

No language restricts Planet Hollywood's ability to associate or contract with Gordon Ramsay.  

And any contract that purports to limit the freedom to associate should certainly state so plainly.   

Nonetheless, Plaintiff attempts to read into the following language an encroachment on the 

freedom to associate:  "[A]s determined by PH in its sole discretion, PH shall, without prejudice 

to any other rights or remedies of PH including at law or in equity, have the right to terminate this 

Agreement and its relationship with Gordon Ramsay and GRB."  (Pl.'s Opp'n to Def.'s Mot. to 

Dismiss 10:11-14 (citing Development Agreement ¶ 11.2, Ex. 1 to Def.'s Mot. to Dismiss).)  

Plaintiff argues that this is a conditional statement, i.e. if Planet Hollywood terminates its 

relationship with Seibel, then Planet Hollywood must also terminate its relationship with Gordon 

Ramsay.  (Pl.'s Opp'n to Def.'s Mot. to Dismiss 10:11-14)  But the language necessary to indicate 

such a condition, such as "on the condition that," "so long as," or even "if . . . then . . . " is notably 

absent from the Development Agreement.  Plaintiffs' reading of these words as imposing a 

condition limiting Planet Hollywood's freedom to associate is disingenuous, at minimum.  The 

parties did not plainly state, nor did they contemplate, such an imposition. 

Rather than limiting Planet Hollywood's freedom to associate, as Seibel suggests, 

Paragraph 11.2 reinforces that right.  It authorizes Planet Hollywood to act with "sole discretion" 

in determining whether it will terminate the Development Agreement, its relationship with 

Ramsay, its relationship with GRB, or all of the above.  When Planet Hollywood terminated the 
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Development Agreement, the parties' obligations to one another ceased, except as to the surviving 

provisions of the Development Agreement.  Paragraph 11.2 was not one of them.  (See Ex. 1 to 

Def.'s Mot. to Dismiss ¶ 4.3.1.)  Thus, Plaintiff's claim that Planet Hollywood breached the 

Development Agreement by continuing, after termination, to associate with Ramsay must be 

dismissed. 

2. Plaintiff failed to state a claim for breach of the Development Agreement 
based on Planet Hollywood's payment of a portion of the license fee to 
Ramsay.  (Claim 68(e).) 

 
  Plaintiff's approach to this issue is to avoid the applicable law by narrowing the standard.  

Despite Plaintiff's constricting premise, Planet Hollywood need not prove that a plaintiff's failure 

to allege that no permission was given has led to dismissal.  If the focus of controlling caselaw 

were as narrow as Plaintiff attempts to assign, it is unlikely that any case would ever be 

controlling, as the facts of each case, and more specifically, each contract, are different.   

 Rather, the standard Planet Hollywood must meet to succeed in dismissing this claim is to 

demonstrate that Plaintiff has not sufficiently alleged a breach of contract.  Among other things, a 

cause of action for breach of contract must allege that a party to a contract violated the terms of 

the contract.  Slaughter v. Coffing, No. 68911, 2017 WL 462250, at *2 (Nev. App. Jan. 24, 2017) 

(quoting Saini v. Int'l Game Tech., 434 F. Supp. 2d 913, 919-20 (D. Nev. 2006)) ("Nevada law 

requires the plaintiff in a breach of contract action to show . . . a breach by the defendant . . . .").  

Thus, a plaintiff's allegation that the defendant acted consistent with the terms of a contract is 

insufficient to properly allege a breach. 

 Here, Plaintiff alleges that Planet Hollywood breached the contract by "[p]aying all or a 

portion of the License Fee to Ramsay or his affiliated entity."  (Compl.¶ 68(a).)  Such conduct is 

consistent with the terms of the Development Agreement and therefore does not plead the “breach 

by defendant” that is required by law.  Indeed, Paragraph 8.2 of the Development Agreement 
provides: "The License Fee shall be payable . . . to such address or account located within the 

United States of America as directed by GRB, from time to time."  (Ex. 1.)  To allege conduct 

inconsistent with the Development Agreement, Plaintiff must allege that Planet Hollywood paid 

all or a portion of the license fee to an account located outside of the United States of America or 
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that GRB did not direct Planet Hollywood to make GRUS's portion of the payment to either 

Ramsay or GRUS, fifty percent owner of GRB.  Because Plaintiff's allegation is consistent with 

the contract, rather than in violation of the contract, Plaintiff's claim that Planet Hollywood paid 

the license fee to "Ramsay or his affiliated entity" must be dismissed.   

3. Plaintiff failed to state a claim for breach of the Development Agreement 
based on Planet Hollywood's termination.  (Claim 68(f).) 

 
  

On this point, Plaintiff's Opposition is simply unresponsive, failing to address 

Planet Hollywood's actual assertion.  Specifically, Plaintiff mischaracterizes Planet Hollywood's 

position and then argues against its mischaracterization.  Seibel first proposes an emphasized 

Paragraph 11.2 of the Development Agreement, reproduced here for convenience: 

If any GR Associate fails to satisfy any such requirement, if PH or 
any of PH's Affiliates are directed to cease business with any 
GR Associate by any Gaming Authority, or if PH shall determine, 
in PH's sole and exclusive judgment, that any GR Associate is an 
Unsuitable Person, then immediately following notice by PH to 
Gordon Ramsay and GRB, (a) Gordon Ramsay and/or GRB shall 
terminate any relationship with the Person who is the source of such 
issue, (b) Gordon Ramsay and/or ORB shall cease the activity or 
relationship creating the issue to PH's satisfaction, in PH's sole 
judgment, or (c) if such activity or relationship is not subject to 
cure as set forth in the foregoing clauses (a) and (b), as 
determined by PH in its sole discretion, PH shall, without prejudice 
to any other rights or remedies of PH including at law or in equity, 
have the right to terminate this Agreement and its relationship with 
Gordon Ramsay and GRB. 
 

(Pl.'s Opp'n to Def.'s Mot. to Dismiss 12:13-20.)  Seibel argues that Planet Hollywood relied 

solely on the underlined language and ignored the bold language in determining that Plaintiff was 

not entitled to an opportunity to cure.  (Pl.'s Opp'n to Def.'s Mot. to Dismiss 12:21-22.)   

 In fact, Planet Hollywood's reading of the contract relies on the bold language, not the 

underlined language, as stated in Planet Hollywood's Motion to Dismiss: "Consistent with its 

express contractual right . . . Planet Hollywood exercised its "sole discretion" to determine that 

GRB's unsuitability was "not subject to cure."  (11:25-28 (emphasis added) (citing Ex. 1 to Def.'s 

Mot. to Dismiss ¶ 11.2).)  Nonetheless, in complete evasion of the applicable text, Seibel argues 

that the intent of the parties under Paragraph 11.2 was that GRB be given an opportunity to cure.  

(Pl.'s Opp'n to Def.'s Mot. to Dismiss 12:23-13:1.)  But to determine intent, the court looks first to 
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the plain language of the contract, and if the language is clear, the court enforces the contract as 

written.  See Davis v. Beling, 128 Nev., Adv. Op. 28, 278 P.3d 501, 515 (2012) ("The objective in 

interpreting . . . contracts, is to discern the intent of the contracting parties.  [T]raditional rules of 

contract interpretation [are employed] to accomplish that result.  Therefore, the initial focus is on 

whether the language of the contract is clear and unambiguous; if it is, the contract will be 

enforced as written." (Citations and quotations omitted)).   

 The language is clear.  "If such activity or relationship is not subject to cure . . . as 

determined by PH in its sole discretion, PH shall . . . have the right to terminate this Agreement 

and its relationship with Gordon Ramsay and GRB."  Planet Hollywood exercised that right.  

Therefore, Plaintiff's claim that Planet Hollywood breached the Development Agreement by 

terminating the contract without providing an opportunity to cure must be dismissed. 

4. Plaintiff failed to state a claim for breach of the Development Agreement 
based on Planet Hollywood's attempting or planning to open a rebranded 
restaurant.  (Claim 68(h).)  

 
 Plaintiff's claim that Planet Hollywood breached Paragraph 14.21 by attempting and 

planning to open a rebranded restaurant without first entering an agreement with GRB or an 

affiliate (see Compl. ¶ 62(d)) has no basis in the law.  Nevada has not recognized a cause of 

action for civil attempt.  Thus, Plaintiff argues that his claim can be construed as one for 

anticipatory breach of contract.  (Pl.'s Opp'n to Def.'s Mot. to Dismiss 14:4-9.) 

 Anticipatory repudiation is inapplicable here for two reasons.  First, Planet Hollywood did 

not state, and Seibel did not plead, that Planet Hollywood would not comply with an existing 

contract.  Quite distinctly, Planet Hollywood stated that the contract is terminated.  And if the 

contract is terminated, there is no contract creating obligations with which either party must 

comply.   

 Second, Plaintiff failed to state a claim for anticipatory repudiation in his Complaint.  

Covington Bros. v. Valley Plastering, Inc., 93 Nev. 355, 360, 566 P.2d 814, 817 (1977) ("A 

contractual anticipatory repudiation must be clear, positive, and unequivocal.  Whether specific 

conduct or language is sufficiently clear to constitute an anticipatory repudiation must be decided 
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in light of the total factual context of the individual case.").  Plaintiff's claim was only recently 

imagined in response to Planet Hollywood's Motion to Dismiss, and is insufficient.1 

C. Plaintiff Failed to State Claims for Breach of the Implied Covenant of Good 
Faith and Fair Dealing Because His Claims Contradict the Contract. 

 
 
Plaintiff invites Planet Hollywood into a dispute over the facts of his implied covenant 

claims by alleging that Planet Hollywood failed to address each of his fifteen fact-filled breach of 

implied covenant claims separately.  (Pl.'s Opp'n to Def.'s Mot. to Dismiss 14:4-9.)  However, the 

standard on a motion to dismiss confines Planet Hollywood to addressing matters appropriately 

decided as a matter of law.  See, e.g., Simpson v. Mars Inc., 113 Nev. 188, 190, 929 P.2d 966, 

967 (1997) (upholding as a matter of law the district court's dismissal pursuant to 

NRCP 12(b)(5)).  Thus, Planet Hollywood requested what it is entitled to as a matter of law, 

dismissal of the following of Plaintiff's implied covenant claims: Paragraphs 74(b)-(e), (i)-(l), (n) 

of the Complaint. 

As a matter of law, an implied covenant cannot contradict an express contract provision.  

See, e.g., Kuiava v. Kwasniewski, 126 Nev. 731, 367 P.3d 791 (2010) (table), citing with approval 

Kucharczyk v. Regents of Univ. of Cal., 946 F. Supp. 1419, 1432 (N.D. Cal. 1996) (noting that the 

implied covenant of good faith and fair dealing may not be used to imply a term that is 

contradicted by an express term of the contract); O'Connor v. Uber Techs., Inc., 58 F. Supp. 3d 

989, 1001 (N.D. Cal. 2014); Tollefson v. Roman Catholic Bishop, 268 Cal. Rptr. 550 

(Cal. Ct. App. 1990) overturned on other grounds by Scott v. Pac. Gas & Elec. Co., 904 P.2d 834, 

846 (Cal. 1995) ("[T]here simply cannot exist a valid express contract on one hand and an implied 

contract on the other, each embracing the identical subject but requiring different results and 

treatment."). 

                                                           
1  Plaintiff's additional arguments claiming that Planet Hollywood attempted or planned to 
open a rebranded restaurant also lack merit.  (Pl.'s Opp'n to Def.'s Mot. to Dismiss 13:15.)  None 
of the contractual provisions set forth by Plaintiff provide that Planet Hollywood must enter into a 
relationship with Plaintiff if Planet Hollywood were "attempting or planning" to open a new 
restaurant.  Even if a contractual provision could be interpreted to obligate Planet Hollywood to 
enter into a relationship with Seibel for "planning" to pursue a burger-themed restaurant, there is 
no time limitation set out in any of the identified provisions.  Therefore, any such claim would not 
be ripe. 
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As provided in Planet Hollywood's Motion to Dismiss and above herein, Paragraph 11.2 – 

which authorizes Planet Hollywood to terminate its relationship with Seibel upon 

Planet Hollywood's sole determination of unsuitability – directly conflicts with the following of 

Seibel's implied covenant claims: Complaint Paragraphs 74(b), (c),(d), (j), (k).  Moreover, the 

right to freely associate guaranteed by social contract cannot be implied absent a plain statement 

contracting away the same, and assuming such a contract is not illegal, dismissal of the following 

claims is a mandate:  Complaint Paragraph 74(e), (l), (n).  Finally, the implied covenant cannot 

contradict Paragraph 8.2 of the Development Agreement, providing that the license fee may be 

paid to an account that GRB directs, and thus the following claim must be dismissed: Complaint 

Paragraph 74(i).  Based on the foregoing, each of the above cited claims for breach of the implied 

covenant must be dismissed. 

D. Plaintiff Failed to State Claims for Unjust Enrichment Because His Claims 
Are Rooted in the Contract.  

  

Plaintiff argues that this Court should deny Planet Hollywood's motion to dismiss the 

unjust enrichment claim because Planet Hollywood admitted that it owes GRB hundreds of 

thousands of dollars.  (Pl.'s Opp'n to Def.'s Mot. to Dismiss 18:11-17 (citing Def.'s Opp'n to Plf.'s 

Mot. for Prelim. Inj. 8:8-14).)  First, Plaintiff's statement is simply untrue.  Planet Hollywood 

stated as follows: 

Because of Seibel's unsuitability, requiring Planet Hollywood to 
terminate the Development Agreement, Planet Hollywood had 
concerns about making License Fee payments to GRB for use of the 
GRB Marks and General GR Materials during the wind up period 
given ORB's inability to disassociate with Seibel. (Ex. C, 
Declaration of Boris Petkov ("Petkov Decl.") ¶¶ 2, 4.) Accordingly, 
Planet Hollywood accrued the License Fee for their use during the 
wind up period. (Id. ¶ 3.) Planet Hollywood is ready, willing, and 
able to place those funds in escrow pending resolution of this 
action. (Id. ¶ 5.) If this Court concludes that Seibel is entitled to 
recover those License Fees, any purported damage is remedied by 
releasing the funds from escrow, i.e., money damages. 
 
 

(Def.'s Opp'n to Plf.'s Mot. for Prelim. Inj. 8:8-16.) 

 Second, any license fees owed would originate from the Development Agreement, 

rendering the unjust enrichment claim unviable.  See Leasepartners Corp. v. Robert L. Brooks 
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Trust Dated Nov. 12, 1975, 113 Nev. 747, 755, 942 P.2d 182, 187 (1997) (citation omitted) ("An 

action based on a theory of unjust enrichment is not available when there is an express, written 

contract, because no agreement can be implied when there is an express agreement."); 

Vill. Pointe, LLC v. Resort Funding, LLC, 127 Nev. 1183, 373 P.3d 971 (2011) ("[Plaintiff] 

acknowledges that its action based on a theory of unjust enrichment is not available [because] 

there is an express, written contract, [and] no agreement can be implied when there is an express 

agreement."). 

 Plaintiff also argues that he pled unjust enrichment in the alternative, in the event this 

Court concludes that the Development Agreement is no longer enforceable. (Pl.'s Opp'n to Def.'s 

Mot. to Dismiss 19:1-2.)  However, even if the Development Agreement is no longer enforceable, 

the fact that Plaintiff's claims arise from the Development Agreement remains unchanged, and 

must therefore still be dismissed.  CITE TO CASE LAW HERE.  (See, e.g., Claim 68(d) 

(complaining that Planet Hollywood breached the Development agreement by "Failing and 

refusing to pay the License Fee and other monies to GRB for the period of time it has operated the 

Restaurant and used the Intellectual Property").) 

 Plaintiff's final argument concerning unjust enrichment simply proves Planet Hollywood's 

point.  Seibel argues that he "is seeking, in part, to recover the License Fee due to PH's use of the 

General GR Materials for the Rebranded Restaurant."  (Pl.'s Opp'n to Def.'s Mot. to 

Dismiss ¶ 19:3-4.)  Seibel claims to be owed these license fees under the Development 

Agreement.  (See Compl. ¶ 68(d).)  Thus, any license fees owed cannot be labeled unjust 

enrichment.  For these reasons, Plaintiff's claims for unjust enrichment must be dismissed. 

E. Plaintiff Failed to State Claims for Civil Conspiracy Because He Alleged No 
Unlawful Conduct and Planet Hollywood Cannot Conspire to Breach its Own 
Contract. 

 
 Plaintiff's civil conspiracy claim fails for two reasons.  First, a civil action based on 

conspiracy cannot exist unless action is taken that without the conspiracy would have given a 

right of action.  Eikelberger v. Tolotti, 96 Nev. 525, 531, 611 P.2d 1086, 1090 (1980) (concluding 

that no claim for civil conspiracy existed where there was no civil liability for the underlying 

action).  In other words, to constitute an actionable civil conspiracy, the parties must "intend to 
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accomplish an unlawful objective," among other things.  Consol. Generator-Nev., Inc. v. 

Cummins Engine Co., Inc., 114 Nev. 1304, 1311, 971 P.2d 1251, 1256 (1998) (quotations 

omitted). 

 Here, Plaintiff relies partly on a breach of contract theory to fulfill its obligation to allege 

unlawful action.  However, as a matter of law, as explained above herein, Planet Hollywood's 

actions were consistent with its contractual rights and obligations.  Because there is no breach, 

there can be no civil conspiracy based on a breach. 

 Seibel's claim of civil conspiracy based on an unlawful breach of contract fails for another 

reason.  As a matter of law, Planet Hollywood cannot conspire with itself to breach its own 

contract.  Bartsas Realty, Inc. v. Nash, 81 Nev. 325, 327, 402 P.2d 650, 651 (1965) ("[F]or the 

defendants' breach of their own contract with the plaintiff is not a tort."); see also Alghanim v. 

Boeing Co 477 F.2d 143, 149-50 (9th Cir. 1973) (concluding that the district court properly 

dismissed plaintiff's claim that the defendant had conspired to interfere with its own 

contract); O'Neill v. ARA Servs., Inc.  457 F. Supp. 182, 188 (E.D. Pa. 1978) ("[A]n employer 

cannot be said to conspire to induce breach of its own employment contract or terminate its own 

employment relationship.");  Harris v. Equitable Life Assurance Society 147 F. Supp. 478, 

478 (S.D. Iowa 1957) (citation omitted) ("Charges that a party to a contract colluded or conspired 

with others in connection with its reach will not serve to convert what is essentially a separable 

cause of action for a breach of contract into a joint cause of action for tort."); Koehler v. 

Cummings, 380 F. Supp. 1294, 1313 (M.D. Tenn. 1971) ("Because Jamul under Tennessee law 

cannot be liable for inducing his own breach of contract, the cause of action for inducing breach 

of contract against defendant Jamul is hereby dismissed."); Allison v. American Airlines, 

112 F. Supp. 37, 39 (N.D. Okla. 1953) ("[N]o person or company can be guilty of 'inducing' 

himself or itself to breach his or its own contract; the person or company can only be liable for 

a "'breach' of the contract and responsible for the damages flowing from such breach.").  

 For similar reasoning, Plaintiff's claim of civil conspiracy based interference with a 

contractual relationship must fail.  As a party to the contract, Planet Hollywood cannot conspire 

with itself to interfere with it as matter of law.  Bartsas, 81 Nev. at 327, 402 P.2d at 651 
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(concluding that a defendant could not tortuously interfere with a contract to which it was a 

party).  Thus, each of Plaintiff's underlying bases for its civil conspiracy claim must be dismissed. 

F. Plaintiff Failed to State Claims for Declaratory Relief Because Plaintiff Relies 
on Misinterpretations of the Contract.  

  

Plaintiff espouses nothing new in his Opposition with regard to his request for declaratory 

relief.  (See generally, Pl.'s Opp'n to Def.'s Mot. to Dismiss 21:2-5.)  As provided in 

Planet Hollywood's Motion to Dismiss, if the language is plain, contracts must be enforced as 

written.  Ringle v. Bruton, 120 Nev. 82, 93, 86 P.3d 1032, 1039 (2004).  Pursuant to the plain 

language of the Development Agreement, Planet Hollywood is not prohibited from associating 

with Ramsay, (Compl. ¶ 110(a)), Planet Hollywood is not required to provide GRB with the 

opportunity to cure its unsuitability, (Compl. ¶ 110(e)), and Planet Hollywood may plan to 

operate a rebranded restaurant, (Compl. ¶ 110(f)).  Plaintiff's claim for declaratory relief must be 

dismissed. 

 G. Plaintiff's Meritless Claims Should Be Dismissed with Prejudice.  

 Plaintiff argues that his claims, if dismissed, should be dismissed without prejudice 

because he asserts that the defects in his Complaint can be cured by an amended pleading.  

However, that is not the case.  Each of Planet Hollywood's requests for dismissal rely on the law 

and the Development Agreement.  Thus, to state sufficient claims upon which relief can be 

granted, Plaintiff would need to amend the law, which he cannot do. 
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III. CONCLUSION 

Based on the foregoing, Planet Hollywood restates its request that this Court dismiss the 

aforementioned of Plaintiff's claims, with prejudice. 

DATED this 10th day of May, 2017. 

PISANELLI BICE PLLC 
 
 
By:   /s/ Debra L. Spinelli     

James J. Pisanelli, Esq., Bar No. 4027 
Debra L. Spinelli, Esq., Bar No. 9695 
M. Magali Mercera, Esq. Bar No. 11742 
Brittnie T. Watkins, Esq., Bar No. 13612 
400 South 7th Street, Suite 300 
Las Vegas, Nevada 89101 

 
Counsel for Defendant Planet Hollywood Las Vegas 
Operating Company, LLC  
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CERTIFICATE OF SERVICE 
 

 I HEREBY CERTIFY that I am an employee of Pisanelli Bice PLLC, and that on this 10th 

day of May, 2017, I caused to be e-filed/e-served through the Court's CM/ECF system true and 

correct copies of the above and foregoing REPLY IN SUPPORT OF 

PLANET HOLLYWOOD'S MOTION TO DISMISS PLAINTIFF'S CLAIMS to the 

following: 

 
Allen J. Wilt, Esq. 
John D. Tennert, Esq. 
FENNEMORE CRAIG, P.C. 
300 East Second Street – Suite 1510 
Reno, NV  89501 
awilt@fclaw.com 
jtennert@fclaw.com 
 
 
Daniel R. McNutt, Esq. 
Matthew C. Wolf, Esq. 
CARBAJAL & MCNUTT, LLP 
625 South Eighth Street 
Las Vegas, NV  89101 
drm@cmlawnv.com 
mcw@cmlawnv.com 
 
 
 
       /s/ Kimberly Peets     
      An employee of Pisanelli Bice PLLC 
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*   *   *   *   * 

LAS VEGAS, NEVADA, TUESDAY, MAY 17, 2017

[Case called at 9:04 a.m.]

THE COURT:  Okay.  State your appearances, please.  

MR. PISANELLI:  Good morning, Your Honor.  James 

Pisanelli on behalf of Planet Hollywood.  

MR. WILT:  Good morning, Your Honor.  Allen Wilt for 

defendant Gordon Ramsay. 

MS. SPINELLI:  Good morning, Your Honor.  Debra 

Spinelli and Brittinee Watkins on behalf of Planet Hollywood. 

MR. MCNUTT:  Good morning, Your Honor.  Dan McNutt and 

Matt Wolf on behalf of the plaintiff.  

THE COURT:  Okay.  So this is Planet Hollywood's 

motion to dismiss as well as Gordon Ramsay's joinder against 

opposition and reply, which I reviewed.  Welcome arguments 

beginning with whomever wants to begin on defendants' side.  

MR. PISANELLI:  Thank you, Your Honor.  Good morning.  

Your Honor, our position is set forth in our papers, 

so I won't go through all of it.  I will just highlight a 

couple of points. 

This is our Rule 12(b) motion and despite all of the 

briefing, I think one can find some areas of this discussion 

where we actually agree with one another. 

And I think the most important of all of those is that 

we agree that this contract that's governing the parties' 
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rights, the development agreement, we have both told you is 

unambiguous.  And what that means is, of course, that 

Rule 12(b) is the appropriate platform for this debate because 

the resolution of the meaning of an unambiguous contract is an 

issue of law for Your Honor to determine.  So that's probably 

most important thing that we have agreed on.  

But there is a couple more.  One, of course, is we 

both have offered the same theme to you, and that is -- 

THE COURT:  The same what?  I'm sorry.  

MR. PISANELLI:  We both have offered the same theme in 

our papers.  

THE COURT:  Okay.  

MR. PISANELLI:  And that is parties have to live by 

the letter of the agreements that they execute.  So while we 

disagree with what the contract says, we agree that whatever 

Your Honor says it says, we have to live by that. 

So this would be a different story.  If the plaintiff 

was coming in here and saying, well, the contract is ambiguous 

or it has been revised or amended, either through actions or 

otherwise or somehow discharged or even superseded, but they 

don't allege any of those things.  They just point to the 

contract and say that they have causes of action.  And this 

split leads to the third thing that we've agreed upon, and 

that is that the complaint controls. 

Without the allegations about being superseded or 
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having been amended or any of that sort, we simply look to the 

contract.  That doesn't take us outside the four walls of the 

complaint, but we do get to look at the development agreement 

and see whether these contract causes of action in particular 

survive scrutiny. 

And with all due respect to plaintiff, I don't think 

that they do. 

So just a couple of highlights.  Paragraph 68 sets 

forth, it is one cause of action for breach of contract, but 

it really arguably could have been pled as about 10 or so in 

the subparagraphs.  And we're not attacking every one of them, 

but the ones that clearly are just simply based upon what the 

contract says, we say the contract controls without an 

amendment and the complaint can't go forward. 

And the first one, of course, is paragraph 68(a) where 

they are complaining about Planet Hollywood's continued 

association with Gordon Ramsay.  And the point there is very 

simple.  Section 11.2, the development agreement controls, it 

does say that Planet Hollywood has the right to terminate this 

relationship with Mr. Ramsay, but nowhere does it say nor can 

it be reasonably interpreted to say that Planet Hollywood has 

an obligation to terminate its relationship, any relationship 

present, past, or future with Mr. Ramsay.  And that is why, in 

a nutshell, that claim has to fail. 

The next one is the payment of the license fee to 
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Mr. Ramsay.  These limited circumstances did occur, it was 

alleged, but it is governed by paragraph 8.2.  Here again, 8.2 

tells us that we can direct payment as directed -- make 

payment as directed by GRB.  And the complaint specifically 

says that Mr. Ramsay or that GRB generally had directed us to 

make that payment.  And so following the contract cannot be a 

breach of the contract. 

Paragraph 68(f) is really the cure issue.  They are 

complaining that they could have cured the unsuitability 

problem stemming from plaintiffs' ownership.  Plaintiff, 

again, as you remember from our last hearing, has the 

unfortunate circumstance on his resume now being a convicted 

felon.  And they say somehow that they should have been 

granted an extra-contractual right to cure; whereas, or the 

problem of course being that section 11.2 grants these to 

Planet Hollywood.  Express letter of the contract in its sole 

discretion, it determines whether breaches are curable.  And 

it determined in its good business judgment and discretion 

that being a convicted felon is not a curable problem, and 

hiding the interest within a family trust was not even an 

issue for great consideration.  The point being, the contract 

itself granted Planet Hollywood with that discretion and it 

exercised it. 

Finally, 68(h) complains about planning to do 

something.  And the law tells us that that is not good enough.  
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It doesn't -- the allegations don't even arise to an 

anticipatory breach.  It's just that we're planning to do 

something if they claim that they have a contractual or 

extra-contractual cause of action for our future developments 

and then we can have that claim.  But as alleged, we think 

that it doesn't survive. 

The breach of the implied covenant, second cause of 

action really is tied up in the same arguments that you can't 

have extra-contractual rights that are different or expressly 

contradicted by the black letter of the agreement.  And that 

the breach of the implied covenant claim does just that.  It 

complains that we are doing things that the actual contract 

said that we are entitled to do. 

Failure to state a claim on unjust enrichment, very 

simple position there is that we have a contract.  We don't 

have to go to equitable claims of unjust enrichment because 

what, if anything, is owed to this plaintiff or to Mr. Ramsay 

or anybody else for that matter.  It is governed by the 

development agreement, which they embrace in the complaint as 

the controlling document that sets forth the parties' 

perspective rights.  

Same thing with civil conspiracy, which is the fourth 

cause of action.  Without a breach, there cannot be this 

conspiracy to commit this unlawful act.  And of course, more 

importantly, Planet Hollywood can't conspire with itself. 
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The other claims really are just addressing the 

remedies or the other portions of our motion, that there can't 

be a remedy where there is no claim. 

And so the point here, Your Honor, we wrote in our 

opposition that these are incurable problems that shouldn't be 

granted leave to amend. 

I know whenever I say that at Rule 12, I am making a 

record but I am standing on very thin ice.  It's a rare day 

that a plaintiff doesn't get at least a second shot.  But if 

they do get a second shot, it should be conditioned upon the 

added needed allegations to go outside the black letter of the 

contract. 

Your Honor can see this contract says what it says.  

It grants lots of power to Planet Hollywood because that's the 

name of the game in the gaming industry.  The licensee has to 

have power to control its business so as to not lose its 

license when being associated with unsuitable people or 

entities. 

And so if Your Honor, as I expect you probably will, 

grant leave to amend, it should be with the direction that 

just don't point to the same contract provisions with more 

hyperbole and flowery language, which we all tend to do when 

put in that position; but actually either allege that these 

contract provisions have been amended, if you can, or move -- 

pull the complaint back to the core issues that are still 
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remaining after we get -- you know, cut through the contract 

claims that we are just simply overreaching at this stage. 

THE COURT:  How do you -- in footnote seven in the 

opposition, that's where they refer to the close termination 

moneys owed to GRB.  

MR. PISANELLI:  Yeah.  

THE COURT:  Where would that fall?  

MR. PISANELLI:  Well, Your Honor, if there is -- that 

can be a contract, a simple contract claim.  That the contract 

determines what Planet Hollywood owes for the benefits that it 

was receiving from the development agreement, whether that be 

the Association or the contribution from the contracting 

entity or licensing or whatever it may be. 

The parties did not have to sit down and negotiate.  

They didn't have to go to an arbiter.  They didn't have to 

figure out by way of market values for payment entitlements.  

They had a contract.  And so if this contract says that this 

plaintiff under these circumstances is entitled to payment and 

they can allege that, they can allege a breach of contract, 

and where their rights came from, and the facts that would 

establish why they didn't get the appropriate payment. 

Now, there is an issue here on payment in that it was 

not necessarily disputed that payment may be owed, but the 

timing of it and the manner of it was challenging because of 

two things from Planet Hollywood's perspective.  One, is 
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giving payment to an unsuitable character; and two, the GRB is 

frozen until the dissolution proceedings I believe in 

Delaware.  And that they have 50/50 ownership who don't agree.  

Mr. Ramsay and his entities on the one hand and Mr. Seibel and 

his entity on the other hand have a company that has an 

entitlement to payment that they can't seem to agree on the 

time of day. 

There will be a process through the dissolution 

proceeding and from Your Honor that will say Planet Hollywood, 

I understand your position.  I understand you can't do 

business with an unsuitable person, but there is money owed 

under this contract.  And here is the order or the direction 

of how this should be. 

Maybe it will come into this courtroom.  Maybe it will 

go into escrow.  Maybe it will go to Mr. Ramsay, and it will 

be his obligation to pay his partner.  There is lots of ways 

this can iron itself out.  But in the end, to answer your 

question, it's a contract claim.  

THE COURT:  Thank you.  

MR. PISANELLI:  Thank you, Your Honor. 

MR. WILT:  Good morning, Your Honor.  

THE COURT:  Good morning.  

MR. WILT:  As to Gordon Ramsay, we did make a separate 

joinder to the motion to dismiss for a couple of reasons.  The 

first, a technical one.  The way that the -- both the breach 

AA01154



1

2

3

4

5

6

7

8

9

10

11

12

13

14

15

16

17

18

19

20

21

22

23

24

25

10

of contract and the breach of implied covenant claims were 

pled, set out separately the claims as against Planet 

Hollywood and as against Gordon Ramsay.  They're, for the most 

part, structurally identical.  Although they are in different 

paragraphs, and we wanted to be sure that we brought to the 

attention of the Court that the corresponding arguments to 

Planet Hollywood, as to breach of contract, as to Gordon 

Ramsay would be in paragraph 69(a), (b), and (f), rather than 

paragraph 68. 

And as to the claims for breach of the implied 

covenant of good faith, as against Ramsay, those are contained 

in paragraph 75(b), (c), and (i).  

The declaratory relief, unjust enrichment, and civil 

conspiracy claims were lumped together as to both defendants.  

So we would join in the briefing from Planet Hollywood on 

those points. 

And then Mr. Ramsay also joined to argue separately as 

to two provisions.  Because the Court is being asked at least 

to make a legal determination at this stage as to the meaning 

of two of the provisions in the contract that plaintiff 

alleges bars Planet Hollywood from continuing to do business 

with Gordon Ramsay.  And that is equally important to 

Mr. Ramsay as it is to Planet Hollywood in this circumstance. 

As to section 11.2, as counsel pointed out, the 

operative language in that provision allows Planet Hollywood, 
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as determined in its sole discretion, without prejudice to any 

other rights or remedies of Planet Hollywood, including at law 

or in equity, shall have the right to terminate the agreement 

and its relationship with Gordon Ramsay and GRB. 

In fact, in this case, Planet Hollywood did terminate 

the agreement, not just as to GRB but as to all parties.  And 

it did terminate the contractual relationship among all three 

parties in that agreement.  So that provision was complied 

with. 

Section 11.2 does not say that Planet Hollywood must 

never associate with Gordon Ramsay, nor would that make any 

sense because Planet Hollywood, as part of Caesars, Caesars 

has numerous contractual relationships with Mr. Ramsay and 

restaurants and different properties.  Even if the Court were 

to agree with plaintiffs' reading of this provision, that it 

prevents Planet Hollywood from having any relationship with 

Gordon Ramsay, that bar would not be enforceable because this 

invokes an unlawful restraint of trade.  And we cited the 

cases, many of which are based on noncompete covenants, but in 

the Golden Road Motor Inn case on the JL Vodka case, the Court 

places a strict scrutiny on clauses that restrict the parties' 

ability to contract with another enterprise trade. 

Finally, perhaps the simplest answer to that is that 

section 11.2 is not one of the provisions that survives 

termination of the contract.  So provided the Court agrees 
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that the contract was actually terminated, that doesn't have 

any application in this case at all. 

Finally, as to section 14.21 of the development 

agreement, that's the provision that provides -- if Planet 

Hollywood elects to pursue any ventures similar to the 

restaurant, i.e., any venture generally in the nature of a 

burger-centric or burger-themed restaurant, GRB shall or shall 

cause an affiliate to execute a development, operating, and 

license agreement generally on the same terms and conditions 

as the development agreement. 

Here, on its face, that provision is an obligation of 

Gordon Ramsay Burger.  So it says:  If Planet Hollywood 

decides to go forward with another burger-themed restaurant, 

GRB is obligated to execute the development, operating, or 

license agreement.  In this case, that is not a provision that 

GRB would have the power to fulfill anyway because the license 

agreement, as you recall from the last hearing between GR U.S. 

and GRB for the use of the Gordon Ramsay marks, has been 

terminated.  So GRB couldn't perform that anyway. 

Secondly, the provision on its face does not obligate 

Planet Hollywood to partner with Gordon Ramsay Burger.  And 

even if it did, what it requires is that GRB shall -- or shall 

cause an affiliate to execute the similar development 

agreement. 

And what they are complaining about in the complaint 
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is that Planet Hollywood has entered into an agreement with 

Gordon Ramsay or an affiliate of his to operate a similar 

restaurant.  So as defined in the operating agreement itself, 

Gordon Ramsay and his controlled entities are by definition 

affiliates of GRB.  So even if that provision did apply, it 

has been strictly complied with. 

Other than that, we'd rest on our brief, Your Honor.  

THE COURT:  Thank you.  

MR. MCNUTT:  Good morning, sir.  Dan McNutt on behalf 

of the plaintiff. 

I note that in paragraph 68 and 69, for breach of 

contract claims, what's complained of is almost that there is 

too much detail.  The comment was that there were 10 causes of 

action that we alleged in subparts.  And paragraph 68 says 

Planet Hollywood breached the development agreement by 

conduct, including but not limited to, and then we give 

specific examples.  We go through 10 of those or 11 of those 

and we identify them. 

Now, the Court can accept those allegations as true 

and should accept those allegations as true, but additionally, 

the Court for its own, as Mr. Pisanelli identified, can simply 

consult the contract. 

And so 4.3.2 is the relevant section of the contract 

that says -- and let me back up for the facts, Your Honor.  

They terminated in September.  It is undisputed that they 

AA01158



1

2

3

4

5

6

7

8

9

10

11

12

13

14

15

16

17

18

19

20

21

22

23

24

25

14

continued to operate Burgr Gordon Ramsay through March 31st of 

this year.  It is also undisputed that Planet Hollywood has 

not paid the license fee at least up through March 31st.  

Now, we believe they still owe license fees even after 

March 31st, but as far as undisputed facts, those things are 

clear. 

4.3.2 says:  During the applicable post-termination 

period, during which Planet Hollywood is operating the 

restaurant, Planet Hollywood shall continue to be obligated to 

pay -- and this is critical -- GRB, all amounts due GRB 

hereunder that accrue during such period. 

Section 8.2 says those amounts are due 30 days 

following each calendar quarter. 

So the representations made here this morning and in 

the briefing is that, well, we did operate the restaurant as 

Burgr Gordon Ramsay up through March 31st.  We did not pay the 

license fee up through March 31st.  There is a subtle context 

to it though, Your Honor, that Planet Hollywood paid part of 

the license fee owed to GRB to Ramsay or his entity GR U.S. 

Those are breaches of the very clear and unambiguous 

contract.  But it goes further.  Post-March 31st, they are 

continuing to operate the exact same restaurant, in the exact 

same location, continuing to use the general GR materials to 

operate the restaurant. 

If Your Honor wanted to go to Gordon Ramsay Burger now 
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because it is called Gordon Ramsay Burger with an E now, and 

have the Hell's Kitchen Burger, he can have it.  If Your Honor 

went to the former name of the restaurant, which was Burgr 

Gordon Ramsay with no E in the name, he could've had the 

Hell's Kitchen Burger. 

So as a global matter, our complaint stands and should 

stand because it is clear that whether you look at the -- 

merely the post-termination conduct up through March 31st, 

they have breached the agreement; or if you look at the 

post-March 31st conduct, they've also breached the agreement. 

With respect to Ramsay and Planet Hollywood, there is 

nothing in this agreement that allows Ramsay to direct Planet 

Hollywood to pay him a portion of the moneys due to GRB.  And 

there is nothing in here upon which Planet Hollywood can hide 

behind to say it was reasonable for us to think that Ramsay, 

who they know is only a 50 percent member of GRB, can direct 

funds that are owed by the contract to GRB. 

Much has been made of section 11.2 this morning, and 

it bears mention that we do not believe 11.2 is a restrictive 

covenant against trade.  When we say that the contract, when 

Planet Hollywood is going to terminate the contract, and it 

has to terminate its relationship with Gordon Ramsay for 

purposes of this restaurant, and this restaurant being the 

restaurant with the capital R, not some little R restaurant as 

defined by the contract, that's what we are talking about.  
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There is nothing in this contract that would have precluded -- 

if they had terminated the relationship with GRB and Gordon 

Ramsay for purposes of this restaurant called Burgr Gordon 

Ramsay or Gordon Ramsay Burger, however you'd like to refer to 

it, there would be nothing that would preclude them from 

opening up, I suppose, Gordon Ramsay Sushi in that restaurant. 

And we know that because not only the plain text of 

the contract, but also we lead them to Ramsay's argument about 

section 14.21.  And 14.21 says in clear and unambiguous terms, 

that if you are going to do another burger-centric or 

burger-themed restaurant, then you've got to include us on 

materially the same terms as this agreement. 

Well, I would submit, Your Honor, I am no 

restauranteur or expert, but when you call a restaurant Gordon 

Ramsay Burger and you have more burger entries on your menu 

today than you did when it was called Burgr Gordon Ramsay, I 

am going out on a limb and saying that it is a burger-themed 

or burger-centric restaurant. 

So again, that's alleging the complaint as a breach of 

the contract. 

With respect to the implied covenant claims, Your 

Honor, the distinction of the implied covenant claims is that 

if the Court decides, as Mr. Pisanelli and Mr. Wilt suggest 

that the contract was literally complied with, then under the 

law regarding implied covenant claims, the Court looks at, 
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well, wait a minute.  Did you use those expressed terms to 

breach the spirit and intent of the contract? 

So that is exactly how those claims survive.  If the 

Court says, well, in your sole and absolute discretion -- as 

they continually say, we had the power to do all of these 

things.  Although, as we go further in this case, the Court 

will hear expert testimony that they have so much power that 

they have attempted to usurp things that are statutorily 

reserved to the gaming commission, not to a private licensee.  

But those are the types of things that are encompassed in our 

breach of implied covenant claims. 

With respect to the unjust enrichment claim, it is 

simple.  We pled it in the alternative.  Again, if the Court 

were to find and believe the argument of Planet Hollywood, 

that they could literally terminate this contract, well, there 

is no dispute that they owe us money at a minimum through 

March 31st, so that claim would survive. 

With respect to specific performance and the other 

claims and the civil conspiracy claim, Your Honor, those 

claims survive because as we have pled them, and every 

complaint has to be looked at, at some level, temporally.  

This is what we know when we filed the complaint. 

In fact, to refresh Your Honor's memory, we had no 

idea that they intended to, quote, rebrand the restaurant into 

another burger restaurant until Planet Hollywood filed its 
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opposition in federal court regarding the motion for 

preliminary injunction.  That's when we learned.  

So the complaint predates that.  This is what we knew 

then.  

I am guessing that if I sent my client, Mr. Seibel, 

into the restaurant, he would not be allowed to freely walk 

around and inspect and take notes.  He would probably have 

security called because they claim he is an unsuitable person 

and the contract has been terminated and he has no further 

rights. 

So with respect to those claims as to civil 

conspiracy, it is not civil attempt.  And it's not -- we now 

know temporally as of May 2017, we know for a fact that they 

have conspired to keep the exact same restaurant open today as 

they claim to have terminated the contract under this 

development. 

So that's the prism through which the Court has to 

view that.  All of these arguments are coupled -- I have 

focused mostly on Planet Hollywood, but they work for Gordon 

Ramsay.  And I will take the next 20 minutes and go through 

those, Your Honor.  

Unless the Court has questions, I will take my seat.  

THE COURT:  No.  Thank you very much.  

MR. MCNUTT:  Thank you.  

THE COURT:  I appreciate that. 
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MR. PISANELLI:  So apparently, we agree on more than I 

thought.  And here is my point.  Most of counsel's argument 

had to do with what he claims is the unfair use of 

intellectual property rights in the restaurant, the new 

restaurant, and failure to pay money.  This is going to that 

footnote that you directed me to. 

But the point here, Your Honor, and where I think that 

we agree, is we are not moving to dismiss the allegations 

under paragraph 68(c), which is the intellectual property of 

grievance or 68(d), which is a payment agreement.  We 

understand that is probably been fairly alleged.  We at least 

are on notice of what he is complaining about and we will 

defend it.  So there is a non-issue there, and we are not 

asking you to dismiss the breach of contract under those 

claims.

It's where he has over reached by saying we can't have 

relationships at all with Mr. Ramsay or that any other of the 

earlier arguments that I made to you, where all Your Honor has 

to do is look at the contract to see that those rights don't 

exist for the plaintiff in this case.  So he did say that, you 

know, some of these facts are undisputed.  

I would only say all of the facts in this complaint 

right now are undisputed.  We are not disputing allegations.  

We are simply saying that you cannot come into court, tell 

Your Honor that you're obligated to accept an interpretation 
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of a contract when all parties agree it is unambiguous.  That 

is something you don't have to do.  That is a conclusory -- it 

is similar to a conclusory application that you are not 

obligated to accept.  But most importantly, when -- if the 

contract interpretation is an issue of law, it's for Your 

Honor to decide what the contract says regardless of what 

argument may be or what the complaint says. 

We also agree on the implied covenant issue that when 

the parties agree to the expressed terms of the contract but 

perhaps the spirit has been violated, there can lie a cause of 

action there.  I get that.  And we agree with that generally 

speaking. 

But this cause of action complains about things that 

are expressly governed by the development agreement.  That's 

where the line is drawn under the law.  You can't say that you 

have violated the spirit of the contract by following the 

contract.  

When they say that you should have done something 

other than what the contract says, like give me more cure 

rights, for instance, or never contract with Gordon Ramsay 

again, that's when the law says, no, now you have taken it a 

step too far and there is no implied covenant of good faith to 

do something the parties expressly said would not be done.  

That's the difference here. 

And the civil conspiracy claim, I will just end on 
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this.  It is a common practice in commercial litigation.  No 

one in this room is guilt-free of it, myself included.  But 

we, so often, take a commercial dispute that is based upon a 

written contract and try and blow it up to something bigger. 

Sometimes we see it in the context of a tortious 

breach of implied covenant and good faith fair dealing, more 

often, we see it in the civil conspiracy concept, that we want 

to turn this agreement, this contract claim into a tort claim.  

And once again, it is a step too far.  

We have a development agreement.  We are asking Your 

Honor to tell us what it says, what the rights are.  And lots 

and lots of pieces will fall into place immediately upon a 

ruling of that sort.  Thank you.  

THE COURT:  Thank you. 

MR. WILT:  Your Honor, I will be very quick.  The only 

point that I thought needed a separate response is counsel's 

drawing the Court's attention to section 11.2, and stating 

that they don't read that as a restrictive covenant.  The 

reasoning given was that -- under their reading, it only 

prevents Ramsay from operating another burger restaurant in 

that location.  It wouldn't apply, for example, to a sushi 

restaurant. 

If the provision means what plaintiffs are contending, 

it is not that restricted.  If it means what they say, it 

prevents any relationship between Planet Hollywood and Gordon 
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Ramsay following the termination of the agreement. 

And for the Court to narrow the reading of that 

provision would be exactly the kind of blue-penciling that the 

Supreme Court in the Golden Road case said you can't do.  

THE COURT:  Thank you.  

I am going to grant in part and deny in part the 

motion to dismiss.  Both the -- excuse me.  Both the granting 

and denial are without prejudice.  As counsel noted, we're 

here on a motion to dismiss standard, so it is without 

prejudice. 

I am going to deny without prejudice the joinder, and 

I will tell you why on both here.  On the breach of contract, 

in particular, paragraph 68, granted as to the alleged 

breaches contained in paragraphs (a), (f), and (h).  To me, 

the plain language and clear reading of the operating 

agreement precludes those from being breaches of contract. 

(E) is questionable, but we're here again on the 

motion to dismiss standard wherein I do accept all facts as 

true as pleaded in the complaint.  But I agree with defendants 

when they say -- and I don't think plaintiff disputed either 

that even on a motion to dismiss standard, it's appropriate to 

consider the parties' written agreement that the complaint 

relies upon.  There's no dispute that the contract was entered 

into and exists. 

I am going to deny without prejudice the remainder of 
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the motion because I do believe that as pleaded, the remainder 

that's sought to be dismissed, they do state claims upon which 

relief may be granted under Nevada law.  And so, in 

particular, the applied covenant of good faith and fair 

dealing does allege, at least on its face, you know, the 

extra-contractual types of duties and breaches that would be 

appropriate for that type of claim. 

Unjust enrichment, yes, there is an operating 

agreement; and, no, there is no dispute that it was entered 

into.  But Nevada law does allow alternative theories of 

relief to be pleaded, alternative causes of action.  And there 

is, on its face, in particular with the license fee and the 

retention of that, there may be a claim for unjust enrichment.  

So that's denied without prejudice. 

Then civil conspiracy and declaratory relief, same.  

They do plead causes of action under Nevada law here. 

As to the joinder with Mr. Ramsay, the breach of 

contract claims as to him are different from those asserted 

against Planet Hollywood.  And again, we are on a motion to 

dismiss standard and they do state claims upon which relief 

may be granted under Nevada law. 

So Mr. Pisanelli, if you could prepare that order, 

submit it to everyone for review.  

MR. PISANELLI:  I will do that, Your Honor.  Thank 

you.  
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THE COURT:  Thank you. 

MR. WILT:  Thank you, Your Honor.  

MR. MCNUTT:  Thank you, Your Honor. 

[Hearing concluded at: 9:40 a.m.]

* * * * * * * *

ATTEST:  I do hereby certify that I have truly and 

correctly transcribed.  The audio/video proceedings in the 

above-entitled case to the best of my ability. 

______________________________________
KRISTY GILES
COURT TRANSCRIBER
DICTABIRD TRANSCRIPTION SERVICES, LLC 
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v. 
 
PHWLV, LLC, a Nevada limited liability 
company; GORDON RAMSAY, an individual; 
DOES I through X; ROE CORPORATIONS I 
through X, 
 
    Defendants, 
and 
 
GR BURGR LLC, a Delaware limited liability 
company, 
 
   Nominal Plaintiff. 
 

Case No.: A-17-751759 
 
Dept. No.: XV 
 
 
 
NOTICE OF ENTRY OF ORDER 
GRANTING IN PART AND DENYING IN 
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MOTION TO DISMISS 
 
 
 
 
 
 
Date of Hearing: May 17, 2017 
 
Time of Hearing: 9:00 a.m. 

 
 PLEASE TAKE NOTICE that an "Order Granting in Part and Denying in Part 

Planet Hollywood's Motion to Dismiss" was entered in the above-captioned matter on June 15, 
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      PISANELLI BICE PLLC 
 
 
      By:  /s/ Debra L. Spinelli     
       James J. Pisanelli, Esq., #4027 
       Debra L. Spinelli, Esq., #9695 
       Brittnie T. Watkins, Esq., #13612 
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      Attorneys for Defendant PHWLV, LLC 
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copies of the above and foregoing NOTICE OF ENTRY OF ORDER to the following: 

 
 
Daniel R. McNutt, Esq. 
Matthew C. Wolf, Esq. 
CARBAJAL & McNUTT, LLP 
625 South Eighth Street 
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Allen J. Wilt, Esq. 
John D. Tennert III, Esq. 
300 East Second Street, Suite 1510 
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      An employee of Pisanelli Bice PLLC 
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DANIEL R. MCNUTT (SBN 7815) 
MATTHEW C. WOLF (SBN 10801) 
CARBAJAL & MCNUTT, LLP 
625 South Eighth Street 
Las Vegas, Nevada 89101 
Tel. (702) 384-1170 / Fax. (702) 384-5529 
drm@cmlawnv.com   
mcw@cmlawnv.com 
Attorneys for Plaintiff 

DISTRICT COURT 

CLARK COUNTY, NEVADA 

 
ROWEN SEIBEL, an individual and citizen of 
New York, derivatively on behalf of Real Party 
in Interest GR BURGR LLC, a Delaware 
limited liability company, 
 

Plaintiff, 
 
v. 
 
PHWLV, LLC, a Nevada limited liability 
company; GORDON RAMSAY, an individual; 
DOES I through X; ROE CORPORATIONS I 
through X, 
 

Defendants, 
 
and 
 
GR BURGR LLC, a Delaware limited liability 
company,  
 

Nominal Plaintiff. 

Case No.: A-17-751759-B 

 

Dept. No.: 15 
 

FIRST AMENDED VERIFIED 
COMPLAINT 

 
Request for Assignment to Business Court Due 

to Claims Involving Business Torts under EDCR 
1.61(a)(2)(ii), Claims Involving an Interest in a 

Business under EDCR 1.61(A)(2)(iii), and 
Claims Involving Business Franchise 

Transactions or Relationships under EDCR 
1.61(a)(2)(iv) 

 
Exempt from Arbitration Under NEV. REV. 

STAT. § 38.255 and NAR 3(a) Due to Requests 
for Equitable and Declaratory Relief and 

Amount in Controversy 
 

Exempt from Petition for Exemption from 
Arbitration Requirements Under NAR 5(a) Due 

to Requests for Equitable and Declaratory 
Relief 

Plaintiff Rowen Seibel (“Seibel”), a member and manager of GR Burgr LLC (“GRB”) 

appearing derivatively on its behalf, hereby complains as follows: 

I. PARTIES AND JURISDICTION. 

1. Defendant PHWLV, LLC (“PH”) is a Nevada limited liability company.  Its principal 

place of business is in Clark County, Nevada.  PH is owned, directly or indirectly, by Caesars 

Entertainment Corporation (“Caesars”). 

2. Defendant Gordon Ramsay (“Ramsay”) is an individual greater than eighteen years of 
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age and a citizen of the United Kingdom. 

3. Clark County, Nevada, is a proper venue because the agreements, acts, events, 

occurrences, decisions, transactions, or omissions giving rise to this lawsuit occurred or were 

performed in Clark County, Nevada. 

4. The identities of defendants DOES I through X and ROE CORPORATIONS I through 

X are unknown at this time and may be person or entities who are responsible in some manner for 

the losses, injuries, and damages herein alleged.  The roles of these defendants may include, but is 

not limited to, (1) owning or operating the restaurant(s) at issue; (2) directly or indirectly assisting 

Defendants in breaching their contractual or common law duties; (3) directly or indirectly infringing 

upon, misappropriating, or misusing GRB’s intellectual property; (4) directly or indirectly assisting 

Defendants with infringing upon, misappropriating, or misusing GRB’s intellectual property; (5) 

being employees, agents, servants, or joint ventures of the defendants named herein who are 

responsible in some manner for the losses, injuries, and damages alleged herein; (6) being managers 

with some control over and responsibility for the defendants named herein; (7) being business 

entities controlled by or associated with the defendants named herein, including but not limited to 

parent corporations, wholly owned subsidiaries, or alter egos; or (8) being employers, agents, 

principals, masters, or joint ventures of the defendants named herein who are responsible in some 

manner for the losses, injuries, and damages alleged herein.   

5. To the extent two or more allegations, causes of action, or forms of relief or damages 

alleged or requested herein are inconsistent or incompatible, each such allegation or cause of action is 

pled in the alternative, and each such form of damages or relief is requested in the alternative. 

6. To the extent the Court were to determine a cause of action alleged herein is a form of 

relief and not an independent cause of action, Plaintiff respectfully requests that each such cause of 

action be construed in the alternative as a request for relief. 

7. To the extent the Court were to determine a form of relief requested herein should 

have been pled as an independent cause of action, Plaintiff respectfully requests that each such form 

of relief be construed in the alternative as an independent cause of action. 
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8. For each paragraph, allegation, and claim herein, Plaintiff repeats, re-alleges, and 

expressly incorporates each and every preceding paragraph, allegation, and claim. 

II. DERIVATIVE ALLEGATIONS. 

9. GRB is a Delaware limited liability company.  Its equal members are Seibel, a citizen 

of New York, and GR US Licensing LP (“GRUS”), a Delaware limited  partnership.  GRUS’s 

general partner is Kavalake Limited (“Kavalake”), and Kavalake’s director is Ramsay.  GRB’s equal 

managers are Seibel and Mr. Gillies.  Seibel appointed himself as a manager of GRB, and GRUS 

appointed Mr. Gillies.   

10. As an active member and manager of GRB who has been a member and manager of 

GRB at all relevant times, Seibel is pursuing this lawsuit derivatively on behalf of GRB. 

11. GRB is a Delaware limited liability company, and its limited liability company 

agreement (“GRB Operating Agreement”) is governed by Delaware law. 

12. 6 DEL.C. § 18-1001 provides, “A member or an assignee of a limited liability 

company interest may bring an action in the Court of Chancery in the right of a limited liability 

company to recover a judgment in its favor if managers or members with authority to do so have 

refused to bring the action or if an effort to cause those managers or members to bring the action is 

not likely to succeed.” 

13. 6 DEL.C. § 18-1002 also provides, “In a derivative action, the plaintiff must be a 

member or an assignee of a limited liability company interest at the time of bringing the action and: 

(1) [a]t the time of the transaction of which the plaintiff complains; or (2) [t]he plaintiff’s status as a 

member or an assignee of a limited liability company interest had devolved upon the plaintiff by 

operation of law or pursuant to the terms of a limited liability company agreement from a person 

who was a member or an assignee of a limited liability company interest at the time of the 

transaction.” 

14. Paragraph 8.1 of GRB’s operating agreement states, “The Managers shall have the full 

and exclusive right, power and authority to manage all of the business and affairs of the Company 

with all the rights and powers generally conferred by law, or necessary, advisable or consistent 
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therewith. All decisions of the Managers shall be made by the approval or vote of a majority of all 

Managers. Once a decision has been reached by the Managers in accordance with this Section, any 

Manager is authorized to carry out the decision and execute any and all documents on behalf of the 

Company necessary or appropriate in connection therewith.” 

15. NEV. R. CIV. P. 23.1 states, “In a derivative action brought by one or more 

shareholders or members to enforce a right of a corporation or of an unincorporated association, the 

corporation or association having failed to enforce a right which may properly be asserted by it, the 

complaint shall be verified and shall allege that the plaintiff was a shareholder or member at the time 

of the transaction of which the plaintiff complains or that the plaintiff’s share or membership 

thereafter devolved on the plaintiff by operation of law. The complaint shall also allege with 

particularity the efforts, if any, made by the plaintiff to obtain the action the plaintiff desires from the 

directors or comparable authority and, if necessary, from the shareholders or members, and the 

reasons for the plaintiff’s failure to obtain the action or for not making the effort. The derivative 

action may not be maintained if it appears that the plaintiff does not fairly and adequately represent 

the interests of the shareholders or members similarly situated in enforcing the right of the 

corporation or association. The action shall not be dismissed or compromised without the approval 

of the court, and notice of the proposed dismissal or compromise shall be given to shareholders or 

members in such manner as the court directs.”  Pursuant to this rule, a verification declaration by 

Seibel is attached hereto as Exhibit 1.  The contents of the Seibel declaration are expressly 

incorporated into this Complaint as if fully set forth herein. 

16. As established by Seibel’s declaration, demanding that Mr. Gillies authorize GRB to 

file this lawsuit would be futile because (i) Mr. Gillies seeks to dissolve GRB and has caused a 

judicial dissolution proceeding to be filed in Delaware; (ii) upon information and belief, Mr. Gillies is 

aware, approves of and benefits from the suspected misappropriation by Ramsay or an affiliated 

entity of monies belonging to GRB; and (iii) Mr. Gillies’ close relationship with and loyalty to 

Ramsay creates a conflict of interest because this lawsuit seeks, in part, to recover those monies owed 

to GRB that were wrongfully paid to Ramsay or an affiliated entity. 
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III. THE BURGR RESTAURANT AT PLANET HOLLYWOOD. 

A. The Intellectual Property. 

17. GRB owns the trademark “BURGR” and licenses the trademark “BURGR Gordon 

Ramsay” from GRUS.  GRB also owns rights relating to the burger-centric/burger-themed restaurant 

system and concept utilizing the BURGR and/or BURGR Gordon Ramsay marks, and the recipes and 

menus relating to the concept.   

18. Although the GRB Operating Agreement recognizes that GRB owns the BURGR 

marks, Ramsay wrongfully registered that mark in the name of his personal entity, Gordon Ramsay 

Holdings LLC.  Only after Seibel discovered that Ramsay had misappropriated the mark and 

complained to Ramsay was the mark assigned to GRB in November 2014.   

B. The Parties Enter the Development Agreement and Open the Restaurant. 

19. In December 2012, Ramsay, GRB, and PHW Las Vegas, LLC (“PHW Las Vegas”) 

entered a Development, Operation and License Agreement (the “Development Agreement”) 

concerning the design, development, construction, and operation of a restaurant known as “BURGR 

Gordon Ramsay” (hereinafter, the “Restaurant”) inside the Planet Hollywood hotel in Las Vegas, 

Nevada. 

20. Sometime around 2013, PHW Las Vegas assigned the Development Agreement to PH. 

21.  PH, through the Development Agreement, licensed from GRB the rights to use the 

“GRB Marks,” as that phrase is defined in the Development Agreement (including the BURGR 

Gordon Ramsay marks) and the “General GR Materials,” as that phrase is defined in the 

Development Agreement, including the proprietary concepts, systems, menus, and recipes designed 

for use in connection with the Restaurant.  Hereinafter, the “Intellectual Property” refers collectively 

to (i) the GRB Marks; (ii) the BURGR Gordon Ramsay marks; (iii) the General GR Materials; (iv) 

the proprietary concepts, systems, menus, and recipes designed for use in connection with the 

Restaurant; (v) the rights relating to the burger-centric/burger-themed restaurant system and concept 

utilizing the BURGR and/or BURGR Gordon Ramsay marks, and the recipes and menus relating to 

the concept; and (vi) all other rights, tradenames, trademarks, trade secrets, and intellectual property 
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licensed, sublicensed, leased, or loaned in the Development Agreement.   

22. In exchange for a license fee (hereinafter, the “License Fee”) it was required to pay 

GRB, PH had the right to use the Intellectual Property in conjunction with the operation and 

advertising of the Restaurant and the sale of certain products at the Restaurant. 

23. The License Fee owed to GRB is defined as “(a) four percent ( 4%) of Gross 

Restaurant Sales up to ten million dollars ($10,000,000); plus (b) six percent (6%) of Gross 

Restaurant Sales greater than ten million dollars ($10,000,000) up to twelve million dollars 

($12,000,000); plus (c) eight percent (8%) of Gross Restaurant Sales greater than twelve million 

dollars ($12,000,000); plus (d) ten percent (10%) of all Gross Retail Sales.”  Said amount is to be 

paid prior to any capital repayment that may be owed.   

24. After the repayment of PH’s initial capital investment, the License Fee required to be 

paid by PH  to GRB is increased  to “(a) six percent (6%) of Gross Restaurant Sales up to twelve 

million dollars ($12,000,000); plus (b) eight percent (8%) of Gross Restaurant Sales greater than 

twelve million dollars ($12,000,000); plus (c) ten percent (10%) of all Gross Retail Sales.” 

25. The Development Agreement obligated PH to pay the License Fee to GRB.  It did not 

give Ramsay or an affiliate any right to receive any independent portion of the License Fee.   

26. For years, PH paid approximately one million dollars per year in License Fee to GRB 

pursuant to the Development Agreement.   

C. PH and Ramsay Conspire to Oust Seibel and GRB from the Restaurant. 

27. PH, together with Ramsay, began efforts in 2016 to force Seibel out of the Restaurant 

and misappropriate the Restaurant for themselves without paying any consideration to Seibel.   These 

efforts were part of a broader scheme by Caesars, its affiliates and Ramsay to force Seibel out of a 

number of restaurants and misappropriate the revenues and profits from these restaurants for 

themselves without paying any consideration to Seibel so that they did not have to share such  

revenues and profits from of these very successful restaurants with Seibel.   

28. In January 2015, Caesars Entertainment Operating Company, Inc. (“CEOC”)  filed 

for bankruptcy protection under Chapter 11 in United States Bankruptcy Court, Northern District of 
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Illinois, Eastern Division, together with a number of its subsidiaries and affiliates.  PH was not part 

of the bankruptcy proceeding. Thereafter, in or around June 2015, Caesars, CEOC, and their  

affiliated companies, together with Ramsay, began to make concerted efforts to force Seibel and his 

affiliates out of  restaurant ventures they had together without paying any consideration to Seibel, 

notwithstanding the fact that in some cases Seibel and/or his affiliated entities had invested 50% of 

the capital required to develop and open the restaurant and the parties had contractually agreed that  

restaurants of such type could not be operated without Seibel’s affiliated entity that was the 

contracting party.  

29.  For example, in June 2015, CEOC and/or its affiliate Desert Palace, Inc. (“DPI”) 

moved to reject, in the Chapter 11 proceedings, the Development and Operation Agreement between 

LLTQ Enterprises, LLC (“LLTQ”) a former affiliate of Seibel, and DPI relating to the development 

and operation of the Gordon Ramsay Pub and Grill at Caesars Palace in Las Vegas for which LLTQ 

had invested 50% of the capital required to open the restaurant.  When LLTQ challenged the 

rejection on the basis, among many other reasons, that the agreement between DPI and LLTQ was 

integrated with the agreement between DPI and Ramsay (and its affiliate) and that DPI could not 

reject one without the other or keep the restaurant open without LLTQ, DPI sought to reject the 

corresponding Ramsay agreement and simultaneously obtain court approval for a brand new Ramsay 

agreement, to the exclusion of LLTQ, that was less beneficial to DPI and its bankruptcy estate than 

the prior Ramsay agreement.  Notwithstanding LLTQ’s significant investment, the foregoing acts 

would rob LLTQ of 50% of the profits from such restaurants to which it was contractually entitled 

and provide DPI and Ramsay with approximately $2 million per annum that would otherwise be due 

to LLTQ. 

30. CEOC and its affiliate Boardwalk Regency Corporation engaged in a similar scheme 

to take away the revenue stream of FERG, LLC (a former Seibel affiliate) with regard to FERG’s 

interest in the Gordon Ramsay Pub and Grill at Caesars Atlantic City. 

31. PH and Ramsay are engaged in a similar scheme regarding the Restaurant. 

32. In late 2015 and early 2016, PH and Ramsay began discussing a scheme by which 
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they would open new burger-centric/burger-themed restaurants together without Seibel’s 

participation contrary to the Development Agreement.  When Seibel voiced his objection to this 

scheme, PH and Ramsay began a scheme to force Seibel out of the Restaurant without paying Seibel 

any consideration.  

33. On April 7, 2016, Ramsay informed Seibel that he had unilaterally instructed PH to 

pay Ramsay’s entity, and not GRB, 50% of monies due GRB under the Development Agreement.  In 

contravention of the Development Agreement, PH agreed.  

34. As a result, beginning in April 2016 PH paid 50% of monies due to GRB directly to 

Ramsay.  This arrangement, in violation of the  Development Agreement (and the GRB Operating 

Agreement), was intended as the first step in the joint effort by PH and Ramsay to wrest the 

Restaurant from Seibel so that they did not have to share the revenues with him.   

35. Around April 11, 2016, Seibel attempted to transfer his interest in GRB to The Seibel 

Family 2016 Trust, but GRUS rejected that attempted transfer without basis.  On information and 

belief, PH was aware of Ramsay’s baseless rejection of Seibel’s transfer and conspired with Ramsay 

to cause the rejection.   

36. That baseless rejection of Seibel’s transfer provided PH with a sham excuse to further 

its efforts to force Seibel out of the Restaurant without paying any consideration when on August 19, 

2016, judgment was entered on Seibel’s guilty plea in the Southern District of New York to one 

count of obstructing or impeding the due administration of the internal revenue laws under 26 U.S.C. 

§ 7212(a).   

37. Neither Ramsay nor PH was aware in April 2016 of the tax investigation that resulted 

in the judgment against Seibel’s plea when they conspired to reject Seibel’s proposed transfer.  PH 

and Ramsay conspired to reject the proposed transfer by Seibel in furtherance of their scheme to 

exclude Seibel (or his transferee) from the financial benefits of the  Restaurant. 

38. Then, on or around September 21, 2016, a letter was sent by PHW Las Vegas dba 

PHWM, defined in the letter as “Caesars,” to GRB (hereinafter, the “Termination Letter”) allegedly 

terminating the Development Agreement under Section 4.2.5 for purported suitability reasons related 
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to Seibel.  This termination was not valid because, among other reasons, it was not issued by PH. 

39. The purported basis for this termination was illusory and in bad faith, as PH and 

Ramsay had been planning since April 2016, at the latest, to force Seibel from his beneficial interest 

in the Development Agreement and out of the Restaurant for no consideration.  

40. The purported basis for this termination was illusory and in bad faith as PH did not in 

good faith anticipate that it or its affiliates would be subject to disciplinary actions relating to its 

gaming or alcohol licenses as a result of the judgment against Seibel.   

41. Neither Seibel nor GRB has been found to be an “unsuitable person” by the Nevada 

Gaming Control Board.  

42. PH has never been sanctioned, fined, reprimanded by the Nevada Gaming Control 

Board, or any other Nevada Gaming Authority, as a result of Seibel’s association with GRB.   

43. PH has not sustained any monetary damages whatsoever as a result of Seibel’s 

association with GRB.  

44. The purported basis for this termination was illusory and in bad faith, as PH and 

Ramsay schemed together to reject Seibel’s proposed transfer of his interest in GRB, which such 

transfer would have cured any legitimate suitability concerns of PH.  

45. Seibel remains ready, able, and willing to disassociate himself from GRB.  In fact, 

Seibel attempted to transfer his interests, but such transfer was unreasonably blocked by GRUS and 

PH in furtherance of their scheme to force Seibel out of a number of restaurants and misappropriate 

the revenues and profits from these  restaurants for themselves so that they did not have to share such  

revenues and profits from of these very successful restaurants with Seibel.   

46. Prior to PH’s purported termination, Seibel requested that PH inform Seibel as to the 

objections it had to the proposed transfer, but PH ignored Seibel’s request so that it alone, or with 

Ramsay, could take Seibel’s share of the License Fee otherwise required to be paid to GRB. 

47. Prior to PH’s purported termination, Seibel requested that PH work with Seibel to 

arrive at an assignee that could be mutually agreeable to Seibel and PH but PH ignored Seibel’s 

request so that PH alone, or with Ramsay, could take Seibel’s share of the License Fee otherwise 
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required to be paid to GRB. 

48. Removing Seibel from GRB dispositively cures any alleged problem identified by PH 

as being the purported reason for terminating the Development Agreement.   

49. However, PH and Gordon Ramsay have colluded to prevent Seibel from transferring 

his interest in GRB thus evidencing both the fact that removing Seibel effectively cures any allegation 

that Seibel is unsuitable and that the real reason to terminate the Development Agreement is 

predicated upon PH’s desire to retain Seibel’s portion of the monies owed to GRB for itself.   

50. The purported basis for this termination was illusory and in bad faith, since while 

PHW Las Vegas was providing notice of termination allegedly because Seibel, a behind the scenes 

50% member in a company that licensed certain rights to PH, allegedly became an unsuitable 

person, Caesars and other affiliates of PH were engaged in relationships and were parties to contracts 

with notorious criminals with long histories of arrests and convictions, including some for violent 

crimes, the most recent of which appears to be the Rapper T.I. whose name is promoted all over Las 

Vegas as a method to attract people to the club within a Caesars property where he is performing 

with the obvious hope of the same also resulting in additional casino activity. 

51. The purported basis for this termination was illusory and in bad faith, since while 

PHW Las Vegas was providing notice of termination allegedly because Seibel, a behind the scenes 

50% member in a company that licensed certain rights to PH, allegedly became an unsuitable 

person, Caesars and other affiliates of PH had a long history of contracting with and promoting 

professional boxers and boxing promoters who had extensive arrest and criminal conviction records 

to financially gain not just from the boxing matches but also from the additional activity such 

matches would attract to their casinos. 

52. The purported basis for this termination was illusory and in bad faith, since while 

PHW Las Vegas was providing notice of termination because Seibel, a behind the scenes 50% 

member in a company that licensed certain rights to PH, allegedly became an unsuitable person, 

Caesars and other affiliates of PH had a long history of continuing to do business with persons under 

similar circumstances.  Caesars and PH have in the past contracted with, or remained in contract 

with parties to operate restaurants or clubs in spite of indictments and/or felony convictions of such 
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parties without any disciplinary action to Caesars or PH. 

53. The purported termination is invalid and is a sham for the additional reason that PH 

did not cease operations of the Restaurant after the purported termination.   

54. Section 4.3.2(a) states that upon termination of the Development Agreement, PH 

“shall cease operation of the Restaurant and its use of” the Intellectual Property.  It also states that PH 

may continue to operate the Restaurant after termination for up to 120 days, but as long as the 

Restaurant is in operation, PH must continue to pay the License Fee to GRB. 

55. Further, Section 4.3.2(e) expressly states that upon the termination of the Development 

Agreement, PH “shall not use the Restaurant’s food and beverage menus or recipes developed by 

GRB and/or Gordon Ramsay or use any of the GRB Marks or General GR Materials.” 

56. However, to this day, despite its purported “termination,” the Restaurant remains open 

for business and is generating millions of dollars in profits annually yet PH is not paying the License 

Fee earned and due to GRB.   

57. In fact, subsequent to the purported termination, PH continued to use the Intellectual 

Property, GRB Marks, and General GR Materials in operating the Restaurant.  But then, on 

information and belief, instead of paying the monies due directly to GRB, PH and Ramsay colluded 

and diverted payment of the License Fee away from GRB and made some portion of that payment 

directly to Ramsay and/or GRUS or another affiliated entity in furtherance of their scheme to deprive 

Seibel of his rights and revenue. 

58. Furthermore, even Caesars’ Charter documents require or permit Caesars to pay 

monies to certain shareholders found to be unsuitable persons by purchasing their shares at fair 

market value.  

59. Through its patent breach, PH has enriched itself by retaining Seibel’s share of the 

monies due and owed to GRB as a result of the continued operation of the Restaurant.   

D. The Rebranded Restaurant. 

60. After wrongfully terminating the Development Agreement, PH and Ramsay have 

continued to utilize the Intellectual Property  and operate the Restaurant.  However, PH and Ramsay 

claim that the Restaurant is a “new” restaurant because they changed the name of the Restaurant 
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(hereinafter, the renamed Restaurant is the “Rebranded Restaurant”).   Although the Rebranded 

Restaurant is now called “Gordon Ramsay Burger” as opposed to “BURGR Gordon Ramsay” it is, 

in fact, the exact same burger themed/burger centric restaurant and continues to utilize the 

Intellectual Property.    

61. Specifically, by way of example, the following methods, concepts and items that are 

some of the foundational elements of operating the original restaurant, have remained exactly the 

same for purposes of operating the Rebranded Restaurant:  the casualized dining concept including 

the open kitchen concept and design, cooking the burgers on hardwood, use of the original firewall 

design, the uniform concept, the layout of the kitchen, the booth and table placement within the 

restaurant, the metallic fry cones, the cocktail menu, the shake menu, the ordering system, the 

recipes, including but not limited to the almost complete duplication of the top selling menu items 

such as the Hells Kitchen Burger, the Hog Burger, Parmesan Truffel Fries, Beer Battered Onion 

Rigns, Hellfire Chicken Wings, the Dawg hot dog. 

62. Any changes made to the Rebranded Restaurant are superficial at best and reflect the 

continued use of the Intellectual Property.  

63. Around October 2016 and thereafter, Ramsay or an affiliate had several applications 

submitted to the USPTO to trademark “Gordon Ramsay Burger.”  Ramsay or an affiliate submitted 

these applications to use the trademark “Gordon Ramsay Burger” at the Rebranded Restaurant, where 

it is currently being used.  Ramsay’s trademark applications violate GRB’s trademark rights and 

rights under the license agreement with Ramsay.   

64. PH and Ramsay’s conduct related to the Rebranded Restaurant violates the 

Development Agreement and the implied covenant of good faith and fair dealing for reasons that 

include, but are not limited to, the following: 

a) Section 4.3.2(a) of the Development Agreement obligates PH to wind up its 

operation of the Restaurant within 120 days of termination of the Development Agreement.  The 

Development Agreement does not contain any provisions by which this 120 day period can be 

extended.  Based upon information and belief, around January 2017, PH, GRUS, and Ramsay 
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improperly agreed without the knowledge or consent of Seibel or GRB to extend this 120 day period.  

Based further upon information and belief, the sole reason for this improper extension was to afford 

additional time for Ramsay or an affiliate to resolve the trademark issues before the USPTO, so as to 

allow the Restaurant to begin operating immediately as the Rebranded Restaurant without the 

Restaurant ever being closed for any period of time. 

b) In breach of the Development Agreement, PH and Ramsay are using the 

Intellectual Property for the Rebranded Restaurant. 

c) Upon information and belief, Ramsay and PH intend to open additional burger 

themed or burger centric restaurants utilizing the Intellectual Property in breach of the Development 

Agreement; 

d) Section 14.21 of the Development Agreement obligates PH to enter a similar, 

separate written agreement with GRB concerning the Rebranded Restaurant.  PH and Ramsay have 

breached § 14.21 of the Development Agreement by failing to enter a similar, separate written 

agreement with GRB or an affiliate concerning the Rebranded Restaurant. 

65. As a direct and proximate result of all of the conduct and events alleged in this 

Complaint, Plaintiff has suffered over $15,000.00 in actual damages, and such losses shall continue to 

accrue pending judgment of this matter. But for the above-referenced events, Plaintiff would not have 

suffered these injuries, losses, and damages.  

66. Plaintiff also is seeking an award of its fees and costs under the fee-award provisions 

in the Development Agreement.  Section 14.13 states, “The prevailing party in any dispute that arises 

out of or relates to the making or enforcement of the terms of this Agreement shall be entitled to 

receive an aware of its expenses incurred in pursuit or defense of said claim, including, without 

limitation, attorneys’ fees and costs, incurred in such action.” 

67. GRB also requests an accounting under Section 8.4 of the Development Agreement 

and the laws of equity.  Without an accounting, GRB may not have adequate remedies at law because 

the exact amount of monies owed to it could be unknown.  The accounts between the parties are of 

such a complicated nature that an accounting is necessary and warranted.  Furthermore, GRB has 
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entrusted and relied upon PH to maintain accurate and complete records and to compute the amount 

of monies due under the Development Agreement.   

68. Delaware law further provides that “[i]f a derivative action is successful, in whole or 

in part, as a result of a judgment, compromise or settlement of any such action, the court may award 

the plaintiff reasonable expenses, including reasonable attorney’s fees, from any recovery in any such 

action or from a limited liability company.”  6 DEL.C. § 18-1004.  Seibel requests an award of his 

fees and costs pursuant to this statute. 

 
FIRST CAUSE OF ACTION 

Breaches of Contract 

(Against All Defendants) 

69. The Development Agreement is a valid and enforceable contract between GRB, PH, 

and Ramsay. 

70. PH breached the Development Agreement by engaging in conduct that includes, but is 

not limited to, the following: 

a) Operating the Restaurant and the Rebranded Restaurant with Ramsay 

following the alleged termination of the Development Agreement; 

b) Continuing to operate the Restaurant following the alleged termination of the 

Development Agreement; 

c) Continuing to use the Intellectual Property following the alleged termination of 

the Development Agreement without paying the License Fee to GRB; 

d) Failing and refusing to pay the License Fee and other monies to GRB for the 

period of time it has operated the Restaurant and used the Intellectual Property; 

e) Paying all or a portion of the License Fee to Ramsay or his affiliated entity;  

f) Allegedly extending the 120 day post-termination period to wind up the 

Restaurant and continuing to operate the Restaurant beyond the wind up deadline in the Development 

Agreement; and 

g) Opening and operating the Rebranded Restaurant, which is unquestionably a 

“burger centric or burger themed” restaurant within the meaning of Section 14.21 of the Development 
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Agreement, with Ramsay or an affiliate, using the Intellectual Property for the Rebranded Restaurant, 

and failing to enter a separate written agreement with GRB or an affiliate concerning the Rebranded 

Restaurant and failing to pay the license fee for use of the Intellectual Property which is being utilized 

to operate the Rebranded Restaurant.   

71. Ramsay breached the Development Agreement by engaging in conduct that includes, 

but is not limited to, the following: 

a) Receiving, directly or indirectly, monies intended for and owed to GRB under 

the Development Agreement; 

b) Attempting to continue to do business with PH and operate the Restaurant with 

PH in direct violation of the Development Agreement; 

c) Continuing to use the Intellectual Property following the alleged termination of 

the Development Agreement; 

d) Continuing to use the Intellectual Property following the alleged termination of 

the Development Agreement; 

e) Allegedly extending the 120 day post-termination period to wind up the 

Restaurant and continuing to operate the Restaurant beyond the wind up deadline in the Development 

Agreement; and 

f) Opening and operating the Rebranded Restaurant with PH or an affiliate, using 

the Intellectual Property for the Rebranded Restaurant, and failing to enter a separate written 

agreement witih GRB or an affiliate concerning the Rebranded Restaurant. 

72. As a direct and proximate result of the above-referenced events, GRB has suffered 

injuries, losses, and damages exceeding $15,000.00.  But for the above-referenced events, GRB 

would not have suffered these injuries, losses, and damages.  

73. GRB also is seeking an award of its fees and costs under the fee-award provision in 

the Development Agreement. 
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SECOND CAUSE OF ACTION 
Contractual Breaches of the Implied Covenant of Good Faith and Fair Dealing 

(Against All Defendants) 

74. In Nevada, every contract imposes upon the parties an implied covenant of good faith 

and fair dealing.  A party breaches the implied covenant by (1) performing a contract in a manner 

unfaithful to its purpose and that frustrates or denies the justified expectations of the other party; (2)  

interfering with or failing to cooperate with an opposing party with the performance of a contract; (3) 

acting arbitrarily, capriciously, or in bad faith; (4) failing to exercise and perform discretionary 

powers under a contract in good faith; (5) unduly delaying performance or payment under a contract; 

or (6) literally complying with the terms of a contract and therefore not technically breaching the 

contract but nevertheless violating the intent and spirit of the contract. 

75. The Development Agreement constitutes a binding and enforceable contract that 

imposes an implied covenant of good faith and fair dealing upon PH and Ramsay. 

76. In the event the Court were to conclude PH literally complied with any of the terms of 

the Development Agreement, PH breached the implied covenant by engaging in arbitrary, 

capricious, and bad faith conduct that includes, but is not limited to, the following: 

a) Pursuing an arbitrary, capricious, and bad faith scheme with Ramsay to oust 

Seibel and GRB from the Restaurant to increase PH’s profits;  

b) Attempting to interfere with Seibel’s relationship with the Restaurant by 

diverting funds away from GRB to Ramsay or an affiliate; 

c) Conspiring with Ramsay to reject Seibel’s attempted transfer of his interest in 

the Development Agreement;  

d) Purporting to terminate the Development Agreement on the wholly illusory 

unsuitability grounds;   

e) Continuing to do business with Ramsay in conjunction with the Development 

Agreement following the alleged termination of the Development Agreement; 

f) Continuing to operate the Restaurant following the alleged termination of the 

Development Agreement; 
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g) Continuing to use the Intellectual Property following the alleged termination of 

the Development Agreement; 

h) Failing and refusing to pay the License Fee and other monies to GRB for the 

period of time it has operated the Restaurant and used the Intellectual Property; 

i) Paying all or a portion of the License Fee to Ramsay or an affiliated entity; 

j) Failing and refusing to provide GRB with a reasonable and good faith 

opportunity to cure its purported association or affiliation with any unsuitable persons, as 

contemplated in Section 11.2 of the Development Agreement; 

k) Purporting  to terminate the Development Agreement on suitability grounds 

through PHW Las Vegas and PHWM, which has no power or right to terminate the agreement on 

suitability grounds; 

l)  Selectively, arbitrarily, and capriciously choosing to do business or enter 

financial transactions, directly or indirectly, with persons who have criminal records (including but 

not limited to the rapper Clifford Joseph Harris Jr., better known as “T.I.”) or are dishonest, immoral, 

infamous, of ill-repute, or potentially or actually unsuitable; 

m) Allegedly extending the 120 day post-termination period under the 

Development Agreement to wind up the Restaurant for the bad faith purpose of opening the 

Rebranded Restaurant and continuing to operate the Restaurant beyond the wind up deadline in the 

Development Agreement; 

n) Opening and operating the Rebranded Restaurant with Ramsay or an affiliate, 

using the Intellectual Property for the Rebranded Restaurant, and failing to enter a separate written 

agreement witih GRB or an affiliate concerning the Rebranded Restaurant; and 

o) Claiming Nevada gaming law and authorities would prohibit PH from paying 

any monies to GRB or from allowing Seibel to assign his interest in GRB to The Seibel Family 2016 

Trust or another person or entity when (i) no Nevada gaming laws prohibit the same; (ii) no Nevada 

gaming authority has prohibited the same; (iii) no Nevada gaming authority has instituted any action 

or threatened to institute any action against PH or an affiliate; (iv) Caesars’ current certificate of 
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incorporation expressly allows the company to redeem the stock of unsuitable persons; and (v) 

historical precedent exists within the Nevada gaming community for allowing Seibel to assign his 

interest in GRB to The Seibel Family 2016 Trust or another person or entity. 

77. In the event the Court were to conclude Ramsay literally complied with any of the 

terms of the Development Agreement, Ramsay breached the implied covenant by engaging in 

conduct that includes, but is not limited to, the following: 

a) Pursuing an arbitrary, capricious, and bad faith scheme with PH to oust Seibel 

and GRB from the Restaurant to increase the profits of himself or an affiliate;  

b) Receiving, directly or indirectly, monies intended for and owed to GRB under 

the Development Agreement; 

c) Attempting to continue to do business with PH and operate the Restaurant with 

PH in direct violation of the Development Agreement; 

d) Continuing to use the Intellectual Property following the alleged termination of 

the Development Agreement; 

e) Enticing and encouraging PH to breach its contractual obligations to GRB; 

f) Refusing to allow assignments related to GRB to damage and harm GRB’s 

contractual rights; 

g) Wrongfully representing to PH that Seibel is an unsuitable person and that his 

affiliation with GRB cannot be cured; 

h) Allegedly extending the 120 day post-termination period under the 

Development Agreement to wind up the Restaurant for the bad faith purpose of opening the 

Rebranded Restaurant and continuing to operate the Restaurant beyond the wind up deadline in the 

Development Agreement; 

i) Opening and Operating the Rebranded Restaurant with PH or an affiliate, using 

the Intellectual Property for the Rebranded Restaurant, and failing to enter a separate written 

agreement witih GRB or an affiliate concerning the Rebranded Restaurant; and 

j) Claiming Nevada gaming law and authorities would prohibit PH from paying 
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any monies to GRB or from allowing Seibel to assign his interest in GRB to The Seibel Family 2016 

Trust or another person or entity when (i) no Nevada gaming laws prohibit the same; (ii) no Nevada 

gaming authority has prohibited the same; (iii) no Nevada gaming authority has instituted any action 

or threatened to institute any action against PH or an affiliate; (iv) Caesars’ current certificate of 

incorporation expressly allows the company to redeem the stock of unsuitable persons; and (v) 

historical precedent exists within the Nevada gaming community for allowing Seibel to assign his 

interest in GRB to The Seibel Family 2016 Trust or another person or entity. 

78. As a direct and proximate result of the above-referenced events, GRB has suffered 

injuries, losses, and damages exceeding $15,000.00.  But for the above-referenced events, GRB 

would not have suffered these injuries, losses, and damages.  

79. GRB also is seeking an award of its fees and costs under the fee-award provision in 

the Development Agreement. 

THIRD CAUSE OF ACTION 
Unjust Enrichment 

(Against All Defendants) 

80. All preceding paragraphs are incorporated herein. 

81. By licensing the Intellectual Property and the General GR Materials to PH and on 

account of PH’s failure to pay License Fees, GRB conferred benefits upon PH, and it accepted, 

appreciated, and retained the benefits.  Specifically, PH has unlawfully retained and used the 

Intellectual Property for the Restaurant and the Rebranded Restaurant. 

82. PH has failed to cease using the Intellectual Property and to pay to GRB the License 

Fees and other monies owed to GRB for the period of time it has operated the Restaurant and used the 

Intellectual Property. 

83. In the event the Court were to conclude the Development Agreement is no longer valid 

or enforceable, it would be unjust, unfair, and inequitable for PH and Ramsay to be permitted to 

retain or use the Intellectual Property and monies owed to GRB for the period of time they have 

operated the Restaurant and used the Intellectual Property.  It would be further unjust, unfair, and 

inequitable for PH and Ramsay to be permitted to use the Intellectual Property for the Rebranded 
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Restaurant without compensating GRB. 

84. Ramsay, directly or indirectly, has wrongfully accepted and retained monies intended 

for and owed to GRB under the Development Agreement.  It would be unjust, unfair, and inequitable 

for Ramsay or an affiliate to retain these monies. 

85. As a direct and proximate result of the above-referenced events, GRB has suffered 

injuries, losses, and damages exceeding $15,000.00.  But for the above-referenced events, GRB 

would not have suffered these injuries, losses, and damages.  

 
FOURTH CAUSE OF ACTION 

Civil Conspiracy 
(Against All Defendants) 

86. Ramsay and PH acted in concert and had an explicit or tacit agreement between 

themselves to breach the Development Agreement and oust GRB and Seibel from the Restaurant. 

87. Ramsay and PH’s conduct was designed and intended to disrupt GRB and Seibel’s 

contractual relationship with PH, inflict financial harm upon GRB and Seibel, and increase Ramsay 

and PH’s profits from the Restaurant.  These objectives of the conspiracy were unlawful because they 

violated GRB and Seibel’s rights, entitlements, and justified expectations under the Development 

Agreement. 

88. To accomplish the objectives of the conspiracy, Ramsay, directly or indirectly, refused 

to allow Seibel to transfer his interest in GRB to The Seibel Family 2016 Trust, resign as a manager 

of GRB, and appoint Craig Green as a manager of GRB.  While simultaneously blocking Seibel’s 

efforts to transfer his interest in GRB, resign as a manager, and appoint a replacement manager, 

Ramsay and GRUS demanded that Seibel disassociate from GRB.  This demand was a charade in 

light of the fact Ramsay and GRUS blocked Seibel’s very efforts to disassociate from GRB.   

89. Furthermore, in a letter sent on or around September 15, 2016, Ramsay and GRUS 

falsely told PHW Las Vegas that Seibel is an unsuitable person and his affiliation with GRB and the 

Restaurant could not be cured.  Specifically, Ramsay and GRUS claimed the transfer of Seibel’s 

interest in GRB to The Seibel Family 2016 Trust would “not definitively terminate any direct or 

indirect involvement or influence in [GRB] by Mr. Seibel.”  Ramsay and GRUS further claimed the 
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assignment “provide[d] no method by which [PHW Las Vegas] or a gaming regulatory agency could 

be confident that Mr. Seibel did not retain the ability, through a family member or a retained attorney, 

to be involved with, or profit from, a continuing business relationship with [PHW Las Vegas] under 

the [GRB] Agreement.”  These assertions were false because Seibel neither would have had any 

direct or indirect involvement or influence over The Seibel Family 2016 Trust nor would have retain 

any ability, directly or indirectly, to be involved with or profit from a continuing business 

relationship.  These false statements were made in furtherance of Ramsay and PH’s conspiracy. 

90. To accomplish the objectives of the conspiracy, PH refused and failed to investigate, 

research, and consider in good faith whether Seibel would have an interest in or control over The 

Seibel Family 2016 Trust and whether Seibel’s association with GRB and the Restaurant could be 

cured.  It further refused and failed to communicate with Seibel’s counsel concerning these matters.  

This conduct was pursued in furtherance of Ramsay and PH’s conspiracy. 

91. The objectives of the conspiracy were accomplished when, on or around September 

21, 2016, the Development Agreement was terminated on the alleged grounds Seibel is an unsuitable 

person and GRB purportedly failed to disassociate with Seibel. 

92. As a direct and proximate result of the above-referenced events, GRB has suffered 

injuries, losses, and damages exceeding $15,000.00.  But for the above-referenced events, GRB 

would not have suffered these injuries, losses, and damages. 

IV. ADDITIONAL REQUESTS FOR RELIEF 

 
A. Request for Specific Performance Against PH. 

93. Under Nevada law, “Specific performance is available when [i] the terms of the 

contract are definite and certain, [ii] the remedy at law is inadequate, [iii] the plaintiff has tendered 

performance, and [iv] the court is willing to order it.” 

94. In plain, clear, unambiguous, definitive, and certain language, the Development 

Agreement requires PH to pay the License Fee to GRB while the Restaurant continues to operate 

after the termination of the Development Agreement.  (See Development Agreement at ¶ 4.3.2(a).) 

95. The Development Agreement does not contain any provisions allowing PH to 
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withhold the License Fee due to any alleged suitability reasons. 

96. Though it continues to operate the Restaurant following the alleged termination of the 

Development Agreement, PH refuses to pay the License Fee to GRB. 

97. Plaintiff does not have an adequate legal remedy to force PH to pay it the License Fee. 

98. Plaintiff has performed its obligations under the Development Agreement. 

99. Plaintiff requests an order compelling PH to perform its obligation under the 

Development Agreement to pay the License Fee to GRB, as well as awarding any additional relief 

authorized by the law or found fair, equitable, just, or proper by the Court, including but not limited 

to attorney’s fees, costs, and interest. 

 
B. Request for Declaratory Relief Against PH Under NEV. REV. STAT. § 30 re: the 

Validity of the Alleged Termination of the Development Agreement. 

100. A justiciable controversy ripe for adjudication exists between the parties as to whether 

the Development Agreement was properly terminated.  Plaintiff seeks an order declaring that the 

Development Agreement was not properly terminated and therefore remains in full force and effect. 

101. GRB originally entered the Development Agreement with PHW Las Vegas.   

102. The Development Agreement identified PHW Manager LLC (“PHWM”) as the 

manager of PHW Las Vegas. 

103. PHW Las Vegas later assigned the Development Agreement to PH in 2013. 

104. The Termination Letter was sent in September 2016.  It used the term “Caesars” to 

refer collectively to PHW Las Vegas and PHWM.  In the Termination Letter, Caesars purportedly 

terminated the Development Agreement under Section 4.2.5. 

105. The purported termination of the Development Agreement by “Caesars” was invalid 

and ineffective because in 2013, PHW Las Vegas assigned the Development Agreement to PH.  

Following that assignment, PHW Las Vegas and PHWM had no interest in or rights regarding the 

Development Agreement and therefore had no right to terminate the agreement. 

106. The purported termination was invalid and ineffective for the additional reason that it 

was issued in violation of PH’s implied covenant of good faith and fair dealing.  PH had been 
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attempting to wrongfully terminate Seibel’s association with the Restaurant and enrich itself by 

retaining Seibel’s share of the monies due and owed to GRB as a result of the continued operation of 

the Restaurant. 

107. PH’s purported termination was exercised in bad faith and was in furtherance of an 

ongoing scheme to keep Seibel’s share of the revenues from the Restaurant and had nothing to do any 

good faith determination by PH that Seibel is an Unsuitable Person as that term is defined in the 

Development Agreement 

108. The purported termination was invalid and ineffective because upon issuance of the 

purported termination notice PH continued to operate the Restaurant as if the Development 

Agreement remain in effect and failed to comply with the required conduct in the event of a valid 

termination of the Development Agreement. 

109. For the above-stated reason, Plaintiff seeks an order declaring that the Development 

Agreement was not properly terminated and therefore remains in full force and effect. 

110. Plaintiff furthers request any additional relief authorized by the law or found fair, 

equitable, just, or proper by the Court, including but not limited to attorney’s fees, costs, and interest 

under NEV. REV. STAT. § 30.120 or any other law or agreement allowing the same. 

 
C. Declaratory Relief Against All Defendants Under NEV. REV. STAT. § 30 re: the 

Parties’ Rights and Obligations Under the Development Agreement. 

111. PH and Ramsay’s actions have created a justiciable controversy, and this controversy 

is ripe for adjudication as a declaration by this Court. 

112. GRB seeks a declaration concerning the following rights, remedies, duties, and 

obligations: 

a) That PH must cease doing business with Ramsay following the termination of 

the Development Agreement; 

b) That PH must cease operating the Restaurant following the termination of the 

agreement; 

c) That PH must cease using the Intellectual Property following the termination of 
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the agreement; 

d) That PH must pay the License Fee and other monies to GRB for the period of 

time it has operated the Restaurant and used the Intellectual Property; 

e) That PH must provide GRB with a reasonable and good faith opportunity to 

cure its purported association or affiliation with any unsuitable persons; and 

f) That the Development Agreement precludes PH and Ramsay from opening and 

operating the Rebranded Restaurant.   

113. Plaintiff furthers request any additional relief authorized by the law or found fair, 

equitable, just, or proper by the Court, including but not limited to attorney’s fees, costs, and interest 

under NEV. REV. STAT. § 30.120 or any other law or agreement allowing the same. 

D. Request for an Accounting from PH. 

114. The Development Agreement allows GRB to request and conduct an audit concerning 

the monies owed under the agreement. 

115. The laws of equity also allow for GRB to request an accounting of PH.  Without an 

accounting, GRB may not have adequate remedies at law because the exact amount of monies owed 

to it could be unknown. 

116. The accounts between the parties are of such a complicated nature that an accounting 

is necessary and warranted. 

117. GRB has entrusted and relied upon PH to maintain accurate and complete records and 

to compute the amount of monies due under the Development Agreement. 

118. GRB requests an accounting of the monies owed to it under the GRB agreement, as 

well as all further relief found just, fair, and equitable. 

E. Request for an Injunction / Restraining Order Against All Defendants. 

119. Section 14.10.2 of the Development Agreement states, “Notwithstanding any other 

provision of this Agreement, the parties acknowledge and agree that monetary damages would be 

inadequate in the case of any breach by [PH] of Article 6 . . . .  Accordingly, each party shall be 

entitled, without limiting its other remedies and without the necessity of proving actual damages or 
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posting any bond, to equitable relief, including the remedy of specific performance or injunction, with 

respect to any breach or threatened breach of such covenants and each party (on behalf of itself and 

its Affiliates) consents to the entry thereof in any affected jurisdiction. In the event that any 

proceeding is brought in equity to enforce the provisions of this Agreement, no party hereto shall 

allege, and each party hereto hereby waives the defense or counterclaim that there is an adequate 

remedy at law.” 

120. PH has improperly purported to terminate the Development Agreement. 

121. PH and Ramsay have breached Article 6 of the Development Agreement through 

conduct that includes, but is not limited to, (1) continuing to use the Intellectual Property following 

the termination of the License and the alleged termination of the Development Agreement; and (2) 

failing to pay the License Fee and other monies to GRB for the period of time PH has operated the 

Restaurant and used the Intellectual Property. 

122. GRB seeks a permanent injunction or restraining order (i) prohibiting PH from 

terminating the Development Agreement; or, in the alternative, prohibiting PH and Ramsay from (ii) 

(a) using the Intellectual Property for the Restaurant or the Rebranded Restaurant; and (b) continuing 

to operate the Restaurant or open and operate the Rebranded Restaurant.   

123. GRB will succeed on the merits of its claims, the balance of equities tip in favor of 

GRB, and public interests favor injunctive relief.  Furthermore, GRB would suffer substantial and 

irreparable harm if PH were permitted to terminate the Development Agreement or if Defendants 

were permitted to (i) continue using the Intellectual Property; (ii) contine operating the Restaurant; or 

(iii) open and operate the Rebranded Restaurant.   

V. PRAYER FOR RELIEF. 

WHEREFORE, Plaintiff prays for judgment as follows: 

A. Monetary damages in excess of $15,000.00; 

B. Equitable relief; 

C. Specific Performance; 
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D. Injunctive relief; 

E. Declaratory relief; 

F. Reasonable attorney’s fees, costs, and interest associated with the prosecution of 

this lawsuit; and 

G. Any additional relief this Court may deem just and proper.  

DATED June 28, 2017. 

    CARBAJAL & MCNUTT, LLP 

      

/s/ Dan McNutt                                    
 DANIEL R. MCNUTT (SBN 7815) 

MATTHEW C. WOLF (SBN 10801) 
625 South Eighth Street 
Las Vegas, Nevada 89101 
Attorneys for Plaintiff 
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CERTIFICATE OF MAILING 

I HEREBY CERTIFY that pursuant to Nev. R. Civ. P. 5(b) and EDCR 8.05 on June 28, 

2017, I caused service of the foregoing FIRST AMENDED VERIFIED COMPLAINT to be made 

by depositing a true and correct copy of same in the United States Mail, postage fully prepaid, 

addressed to the following and/or via electronic mail through the Eighth Judicial District Court’s E-

Filing system to the following at the e-mail address provided in the e-service list: 

 
James Pisanelli, Esq. (SBN 4027) 
Debra Spinelli, Esq. (SBN 9695) 
Brittnie Watkins, Esq. (SBN 13612) 
PISANELLI BICE PLLC 
400 South 7

th
 Street, Suite 300 

Las Vegas, NV 89101 
jjp@pisanellibice.com 
dls@pisanellibice.com 
btw@pisanellibice.com 
Attorneys for Defendant 
PHWLV, LLC 
 
Allen Wilt, Esq. (SBN 4798) 
John Tennert, Esq. (SBN 11728) 
FENNEMORE CRAIG, P.C. 
300 East 2

nd
 Street, Suite 1510 

Reno, NV 89501 
awilt@fclaw.com  
jtennert@fclaw.com  
Attorneys for Defendant 
Gordon Ramsay 
   
       
      /s/ Lisa A. Heller                                  ___ 
      Employee of Carbajal & McNutt, LLP 
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DECLARATION OF ROWEN SEIBEL 

I, Rowen Seibel, hereby declare the following: 

1. I am an adult and competent to testify to all matters herein and am familiar with all issues 

and papers herewith. 

2. I am making this declaration based upon my personal knowledge in support of my 

derivative complaint in the Eighth Judicial District Court of Clark County, Nevada (the “Amended 

Complaint”) on behalf of GR Burgr LLC (“GRB”). 

3. The facts alleged in the Amended Complaint are true and correct to the best of my 

knowledge, except to matters alleged therein upon information and belief, and as to those matters, I believe 

them to be true and correct to the best of my knowledge, information, and belief. 

A. At All Relevant Times, I Have Been a Member and Manager of GRB. 

4. I am a citizen of New York. 

5. GRB is a Delaware limited liability company. 

6. At all relevant times, GRB’s equal members have been myself and GR US Licensing LP 

(“GRUS”), a Delaware limited liability partnership.  GRUS’s general partner is Kavalake Limited 

(“Kavalake”), and Kavalake’s director is British celebrity chef Gordon Ramsay.   

7. At all relevant times, GRB has had two equal managers: myself and Stuart Gillies, who was 

appointed by GRUS.   

 
B. Asking Mr. Gillies to Authorize GRB to File the Amended Complaint Would 

Be Futile.  

8. Paragraph 8.1 of GRB’s operating agreement states in relevant part, “The Managers shall 

have the full and exclusive right, power and authority to manage all of the business and affairs of the 

Company with all the rights and powers generally conferred by law, or necessary, advisable or consistent 

therewith. All decisions of the Managers shall be made by the approval or vote of a majority of all 

Managers.” 

9. Demanding that Mr. Gillies authorize GRB to file the Amended Complaint would be futile 
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for the following reasons: 

a. In 2016, GRUS filed a pending lawsuit in Delaware to dissolve GRB on the 

purported grounds that a deadlock exists between me and Mr. Gillies concerning the future of GRB; 

b. Mr. Gillies refused to attend a meeting of GRB’s managers in 2016; 

c. In 2016, GRUS and Mr. Gillies blocked my attempt to assign my membership 

interest in GRB to The Seibel Family 2016 Trust and to appoint Craig Green as a manager of GRB; and  

d. The Amended Complaint seeks, in part, to recover monies owed to GRB that 

PHWLV, LLC (“Planet Hollywood”) or an affiliate wrongfully paid to Mr. Ramsay or an affiliate.  It is 

believed Mr. Gillies knew or should have known of those wrongful payments and explicitly or tacitly 

approved them.  Furthermore, as a close and long-term friend and business partner of Mr. Ramsay who has 

received significant financial rewards from Mr. Ramsay’s business ventures, Mr. Gillies would have a 

conflict of interest if he were asked to authorize GRB to file the Amended Complaint to recover the 

aforementioned monies.  Mr. Gillies likely would put his friendship with and loyalty to Mr. Ramsay and 

his personal interest in continuing to earn significant financial rewards from business ventures with Mr. 

Ramsay above the interests of GRB. 

1. The Dissolution Proceeding. 

10. On or around October 13, 2016, GRUS filed a lawsuit in the Court of Chancery for 

Delaware as case no. 12825 seeking a judicial dissolution of GRB.  In Paragraph 2, the complaint alleges 

“[t]he Company’s two managers (appointed by GRUS and Seibel, respectively) have reached a deadlock on 

the future of the Company and the LLC Agreement provides no mechanism to resolve that deadlock . . . .”   

11. Based upon the alleged deadlock (and without admitting a deadlock exists), it would be 

futile to demand that Mr. Gillies authorize GRB to file the Amended Complaint. 

 
2. Mr. Gillies Refused to Attend a Managers Meeting in 2016. 

12. Asking Mr. Gillies to authorize GRB to file the Amended Complaint also would be futile 

based upon the fact Mr. Gillies refused in 2016 to attend a meeting of the managers of GRB. 
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13. In 2016, through counsel, I attempted to schedule one or more meetings of the managers of 

GRB.  One such meeting was scheduled in New York, New York, for July 12, 2016.  Through counsel, Mr. 

Gillies refused to attend.  Mr. Gillies took the position in writing that he is not obligated under GRB’s 

operating agreement to attend any meetings. 

14. Given the refusal of Mr. Gillies to attend any meetings, it would be futile to attempt to 

schedule a meeting for the purpose of asking Mr. Gillies to authorize GRB to file the Amended Complaint. 

 
3. GRUS and Mr. Gillies Blocked My Attempt to Assign My 

Membership Interest in GRB to The Seibel Family 2016 Trust 
and to Appoint Craig Green as a Manager of GRB. 

15. Paragraph 10.1(a) of GRB’s operating agreement obligates me to obtain the approval of Mr. 

Gillies to assign my membership interest in GRB.  Paragraph 10.1(c), however, allows me to assign the 

economic rights to my membership interest in GRB to certain relatives or a trust for their benefit without 

the approval of GRUS or Mr. Gillies. 

16. Paragraph 8.2 of GRB’s operating agreement also allows me with the approval of GRUS to 

replace myself as a manager.  It further states GRUS’s approval of the proposed replacement manager shall 

not be unreasonably withheld, delayed or conditioned. 

17. On or around April 11, 2016, I notified GRUS and Mr. Gillies in writing of my intent to (i) 

transfer my membership interest in GRB to The Seibel Family 2016 Trust, (ii) resign as a manager of GRB, 

and (iii) appoint Craig Green as a replacement manager.  I enclosed a Membership Interest Assignment 

Agreement and a Removal and Appointment of Manager of GRB and asked GRUS to execute and return 

the documents to effectuate the assignment and the appointment of a replacement manager. 

18. GRUS flatly and unreasonably refused to execute the above-referenced documents and to 

approve the assignment and the appointment of a replacement manager.  This is true even though GRB’s 

operating agreement expressly precluded GRUS from unreasonably withholding, delaying, or conditioning 

its consent to the appointment of a replacement manager. 
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4. It is Believed Planet Hollywood Paid Mr. Ramsay or an Affiliate 
Monies Owed to GRB. 

19. Around December 2012, Mr. Ramsay, GRB, and PHW Las Vegas, LLC entered a 

Development, Operation and License Agreement (the “Development Agreement”) concerning the design, 

development, construction, and operation of a restaurant inside the Planet Hollywood hotel in Las Vegas, 

Nevada, known as “BURGR Gordon Ramsay” (hereinafter, the “Restaurant”).   

20. PHW Las Vegas, LLC later assigned the Development Agreement to Planet Hollywood. 

21. The Development Agreement obligated Planet Hollywood to pay a license fee (the “License 

Fee”) to GRB.  It did not give Mr. Ramsay or an affiliate any right to receive any portion of the License 

Fee.   

22. In 2016, I received, through counsel, a letter indicating Mr. Ramsay and Planet Hollywood 

had reached an agreement amongst themselves for Planet Hollywood to pay a portion of the License Fee to 

Mr. Ramsay or an affiliate. 

23. The following chart identifies the payments GRB received under the Development 

Agreement: 

Date Amount 

10/19/2016 $115,789.44 

7/15/2016 $127,618.99 

4/18/2016 $124,615.99 

1/15/2016 $271,487.60 

10/14/2015 $283,560.76 

7/15/2015 $275,970.89 

4/15/2015 $255,832.40 

1/13/2015 $249,799.80 

10/14/2014 $214,587.90 

7/16/2014 $222,718.66 

4/15/2014 $213,142.54 

1/16/2014 $145,125.04 

10/10/2013 $292,231.58 

7/12/2013 $203,427.54 

4/15/2013 $118,688.59 
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1/18/2013 $10,367.27 

24. As evident from the above chart, around the time Mr. Ramsay and Planet Hollywood 

entered the aforementioned agreement, the amounts of the payments to GRB drastically decreased.  It is 

believed those decreases were due to payments of the License Fee by Planet Hollywood to Mr. Ramsay or 

an affiliate. 

25. In the Amended Complaint, GRB seeks, in part, to recover those monies. 

 
5. Because of His Close Personal and Professional Relationship 

with Mr. Ramsay and the Financial Rewards He Has Earned 
from His Business Ventures with Mr. Ramsay, Mr. Gillies Would 
Have a Conflict of Interest if He Were Asked to Authorize GRB 
to File the Amended Complaint. 

26. Based upon my personal knowledge, as well as information and belief and publically 

available sources, Mr. Gillies has a close and long-standing personal and professional relationship with Mr. 

Ramsay.  This relationship is reflected by the following publically available sources: 

a. In April 2014, it was reported Mr. Gillies first met Mr. Ramsay when they were 

young chefs in London and that Mr. Gillies joined Mr. Ramsay in 2002 to open Angela Hartnett’s 

restaurant at the Connaught.
1
  It also was reported that ten years after joining the entity that currently is the 

Gordon Ramsay Group (“GRG”), Mr. Gillies became its managing director.
2
 

b. An October 2010 interview of Mr. Gillies referred to him as Mr. Ramsay’s “right 

hand man.”
3
  Mr. Gillies said during the interview, “As a boss [Mr. Ramsay is] more generous than you’d 

ever believe – trying to keep people happy and share the wealth of the company’s success.”
4
 

c. In May 2015, it was reported Mr. Ramsay paid Mr. Gillies shares worth over two 

million pounds.
5
 

                                                 
1
  See https://www.thecaterer.com/articles/352087/profile-stuart-gillies-managing-director-gordon-

ramsay-group (last accessed on Nov. 16, 2016). 
2
  Id. 

3
  See http://www.hot-dinners.com/Gastroblog/Interviews/gordons-right-hand-man-hot-dinners-talks-

to-stuart-gillies-about-the-savoy-grill-and-bread-street-kitchen (last accessed on Nov. 16, 2016). 
4
  Id. 

5
  See http://www.telegraph.co.uk/finance/newsbysector/retailandconsumer/11610051/Gordon-

Ramsay-pays-restaurant-boss-2.7m-bonus.html (last accessed on Nov. 16, 2016); see also 
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d. In March 2016, it was reported Mr. Gillies had been promoted to CEO of GRG.
6
  

Commenting on the promotion, Mr. Ramsay said Mr. Gillies had been “a driving force in [GRG’s] 

international growth . . . .”
7
 

e. In May 2016, Mr. Gillies said GRG was planning to open new restaurants in 

England outside of London.
8
 

27. Due to Mr. Gillies’ close and long-standing personal and professional relationship with Mr. 

Ramsay, he would have a conflict of interest if he were asked to authorize GRB to file the Amended 

Complaint seeking, in part, to recover monies that were improperly paid to Mr. Ramsay or an affiliate.  Mr. 

Gillies likely would put his friendship and loyalty with Mr. Ramsay, as well as is personal interest in 

continuing to earn significant monies through business ventures with Mr. Ramsay, above his duties and 

loyalty to GRB. 

28. Moreover, based upon information and belief, Mr. Gillies is aware of and explicitly or 

tacitly approved Planet Hollywood’s improper payments to Mr. Ramsay or an affiliate: 

a. As a manager of GRB, Mr. Gillies knew or should have known that the payments 

Planet Hollywood made to GRB during or around April and July 2016 were roughly half the amount of the 

payments it made in 2014, 2015, and early 2016.  As a manager of GRB, he should have inquired into why 

the amount of those payments drastically decreased and taken appropriate action, but he failed to do so, 

presumably to protect Mr. Ramsay; and  

b. As the CEO of GRG and a close and long-time confidant of Mr. Ramsay, Mr. Gillies 

                                                                                                                                                             

http://www.londonlovesbusiness.com/business-news/gordon-ramsay-just-handed-out-a-27m-bonus-to-the-
boss-of-his-restaurants/10311.article (last accessed on Nov. 16, 2016). 
6
  See, e.g., https://www.thecaterer.com/articles/366132/flurry-of-senior-appointments-at-gordon-

ramsay-group-as-stuart-gillies-promoted (last accessed on Nov. 16, 2016); see also 
http://www.bighospitality.co.uk/People/Gordon-Ramsay-Group-announces-four-new-appointments (last 
accessed on Nov. 16, 2016). 
7
  See http://www.bighospitality.co.uk/People/Gordon-Ramsay-Group-announces-four-new-

appointments (last accessed on Nov. 16, 2016). 
8
  See https://www.theguardian.com/business/2016/may/30/gordon-ramsay-eyes-first-uk-restaurants-

outside-london (last accessed on Nov. 16, 2016). 
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likely knows that Mr. Ramsay or an affiliate received monies from Planet Hollywood owed to GRB. 

On the _____day of __________________, 2017, it is declared under penalty of perjury under the 

law of the State of Nevada and the United States that the foregoing is true and correct to the best of my 

knowledge, information, and belief.  

 

___________________________ 

        ROWEN SEIBEL 
 

June28
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ALLEN J. WILT
State Bar No. 4798
JOHN D. TENNERT
State Bar No. 11728
FENNEMORE CRAIG, P.C.
300 East Second Street - Suite 1510
Reno, Nevada 89501
Telephone: (775) 788-2200
Facsimile: (775) 786-1177
Email: awilt@fclaw.com

jtennert@fclaw.com

Attorneys for Defendant Gordon Ramsay

DISTRICT COURT

CLARK COUNTY, NEVADA

ROWEN SEIBEL, an individual and citizen of
New York, derivatively as Nominal Plaintiff on
behalf of Real Party in Interest GR BURGR LLC,
a Delaware limited liability company;

Plaintiff,

vs.

PHWLV, LLV a Nevada limited liability
company; GORDON RAMSAY, an individual;

Defendant,

GR BURGR LLC, a Delaware limited liability
company,

Nominal Defendant.
/

CASE NO: A-17-751759-B

DEPT. NO.: XV

DEFENDANT GORDON RAMSAY’S
ANSWER AND AFFIRMATIVE
DEFENSES TO FIRST AMENDED
VERIFIED COMPLAINT

Defendant Gordon Ramsay (“Ramsay”), by and through his undersigned counsel, without

admission of the legal sufficiency thereof and responding only to the factual allegations therein,

states as follows for his Answer and Affirmative Defenses to the First Amended Verified

Complaint (the “Complaint”) filed by Rowen Seibel (“Seibel”) derivatively on behalf of GR

BURGR, LLC (“GRB”):

//

Case Number: A-17-751759-B

Electronically Filed
7/21/2017 5:16 PM
Steven D. Grierson
CLERK OF THE COURT
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I. PARTIES AND JURISDICTION

1. Ramsay is without sufficient information to admit or deny the allegations in

paragraph 1, and basing his denial on this ground, denies those allegations.

2. Ramsay admits the allegations in paragraph 2.

3. The allegations in paragraph 3 state legal conclusions to which no answer is

required. To the extent an answer is required, Ramsay admits that venue is proper in Clark County,

Nevada but denies the remainder of the allegations contained in paragraph 3.

4. The allegations contained in paragraph 4 are directed at unnamed entities or persons

and, therefore, no response is required. To an extent a response is required, Ramsay is without

sufficient information to admit or deny the allegations in paragraph 4 and therefore denies the

same. To the extent that the allegations are directed at Ramsay, Ramsay denies each and every

allegation in paragraph 4.

5. The allegations contained in paragraph 5 state legal conclusions to which no answer

is required. To the extent an answer is required, denied.

6. The allegations contained in paragraph 6 state legal conclusions to which no answer

is required. To the extent an answer is required, denied.

7. The allegations contained in paragraph 7 state legal conclusions to which no answer

is required. To the extent an answer is required, denied.

8. For each and every paragraph, allegation, and claim asserted in the Complaint,

Ramsay repeats, re-alleges, and expressly incorporates each and every answer set forth in the

preceding paragraphs.

II. DERIVATIVE ALLEGATIONS

9. Ramsay admits that (a) GRB is a Delaware limited liability company, (b) Seibel and

GRUS each owns a 50% membership interest in GRB, (c) GRUS is a Delaware limited partnership

(d) Kavalake is the general partner of GRUS, (e) Ramsay is a director of Kavalake, (f) Seibel and

Stuart Gillies are, or were, managers of GRB, and (g) Seibel appointed himself as manager of

GRB, and GRUS appointed Stuart Gillies as manager. Ramsay is without sufficient information to

admit or deny the allegations in paragraph 9 regarding Seibel’s citizenship, and basing his denial

AA01216
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on this ground, denies that allegation.

10. Ramsay denies each and every allegation in paragraph 10, except Ramsay admits

that Seibel has been a member and manager of GRB at all relevant times and that Seibel claims to

pursue this lawsuit derivatively on behalf of GRB.

11. Ramsay admits the allegations in paragraph 11, but avers that operating agreement

was terminated on September 27, 2016.

12. Ramsay states that the Delaware Code section cited in paragraph 12 speaks for

itself and denies each and every allegation in paragraph 12 to the extent the allegations are

inconsistent with the Delaware Code.

13. Ramsay states that the Delaware Code section cited in paragraph 13 speaks for

itself and denies each and every allegation in paragraph 13 to the extent the allegations are

inconsistent with the Delaware Code.

14. Ramsay states that GRB’s operating agreement speaks for itself and denies each

and every allegation in paragraph 14 to the extent inconsistent with GRB’s operating agreement.

15. Ramsay states that Nev. R. Civ. P. 23.1 speaks for itself and denies each and every

allegation in paragraph 15 to the extent the allegations are inconsistent with Nev. R. Civ. P. 23.1.

Ramsay generally denies the contents of Seibel’s declaration attached to the Complaint as Exhibit

1 to the extent that the allegations in paragraph 15 can be read to incorporate Seibel’s declaration

into the Complaint.

16. Ramsay denies each and every allegation in paragraph 16, except Ramsay admits

that GRUS filed a petition for an order dissolving GRB in Delaware.

17. Ramsay denies each and every allegation in paragraph 17, except Ramsay admits

that GRB owns the trademark “BURGR.”

18. Ramsay denies each and every allegation in paragraph 18, except Ramsay states

that the GRB Operating Agreement speaks for itself.

19. Ramsay admits that in December 2012, Ramsay, GRB, and PHW Las Vegas, LLC

d/b/a Planet Hollywood by its manager PHW Manager, LLC entered into the Development

Agreement. Ramsay states that the Development Agreement speaks for itself and denies each and

AA01217
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every allegation in paragraph 19 to the extent inconsistent with the Development Agreement.

20. Ramsay is without sufficient information to admit or deny the allegations in

paragraph 20 and therefore denies the same.

21. Ramsay denies that the term “Intellectual Property” as defined in paragraph 21

accurately identifies the property or rights owned by GRB, or licensed by GRB to PH under the

Development Agreement. As to the remaining allegations, Ramsay states that the Development

Agreement speaks for itself and denies each and every allegation in paragraph 21 that is

inconsistent with the Development Agreement.

22. Ramsay states that the Development Agreement speaks for itself and denies each

and every allegation in paragraph 22 that is inconsistent with the Development Agreement.

23. Ramsay states that the Development Agreement speaks for itself and denies each

and every allegation in paragraph 23 that is inconsistent with the Development Agreement.

24. Ramsay states that the Development Agreement speaks for itself and denies each

and every allegation in paragraph 24 that is inconsistent with the Development Agreement.

25. Ramsay denies each and every allegation in paragraph 25.

26. Ramsay admits that GRB was paid the License Fee pursuant to the Development

Agreement beginning in 2013 and continuing through a portion of 2016, and that the annualized

total average License Fee paid during that period was approximately one million dollars per year.

Ramsay denies each and every remaining allegation in paragraph 26.

27. Ramsay denies each and every allegation in paragraph 27.

28. Ramsay denies each and every allegation in paragraph 28, except Ramsay admits

that (a) in January 2015, CEOC, and a number of its affiliates, filed for bankruptcy protection

under Chapter 11 in the United States Bankruptcy Court, Northern District of Illinois, Eastern

Division, and (b) PH was a not a debtor in the CEOC bankruptcy proceedings.

29. Ramsay denies each and every allegation in paragraph 29, except Ramsay admits:

(a) that on June 8, 2015, Debtors in that jointly administered bankruptcy case In re Caesars

Entertainment Operating Company, Inc., et al., Case No 15-01145, pending in the United States

Bankruptcy Court Northern District of Illinois Eastern Division, filed a motion to reject certain

AA01218
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executory contracts nunc pro tunc, including that certain Development and Operating Agreement,

dated as of April 4, 2012, by and between LLTQ Enterprises, LLC (“LLTQ”) and Desert Palace,

Inc. [ECF No. 1755]; and (b) that on June 15, 2015, LLTQ filed a preliminary objection to the

Debtors’ rejection motion [ECF No. 1774]; and (c) that on January 14, 2016, Debtors filed a

motion to reject certain existing restaurant agreements related to Ramsay and enter into new

restaurant agreements [ECF No. 3000]. Ramsay states that the publically-filed documents speak

for themselves and denies each and every allegation in paragraph 29 that is inconsistent with those

documents.

30. Ramsay is without sufficient information to admit or deny the allegations in

paragraph 30, and basing his denial on this ground, denies those allegations.

31. Ramsay denies each and every allegation in paragraph 31.

32. Ramsay denies each and every allegation in paragraph 32.

33. Ramsay denies each and every allegation in paragraph 33.

34. Ramsay denies each and every allegation in paragraph 34, except that Ramsay

admits that commencing with the payment for the first quarter of 2016, and continuing through

September 21, 2016, GRUS was paid directly 50% of the monies due under the Development

Agreement, and GRB was paid the remaining 50% of those monies for the account of Seibel.

35. Ramsay denies each and every allegation in paragraph 35, except Ramsay admits

that Seibel sent a letter dated April 11, 2016 to GRUS requesting that GRUS consent to, among

other things, a transfer of Seibel’s interest in GRB to The Seibel Family 2016 Trust.

36. Ramsay denies each and every allegation in paragraph 36, except Ramsay admits

that on August 19, 2016, judgment was entered on Seibel’s felony guilty plea in the Southern

District of New York. Ramsay states that the judgment speaks for itself and denies each and every

allegation in paragraph 36 that is inconsistent with that judgment.

37. Ramsay denies each and every allegation in paragraph 37 directed towards Ramsay,

except Ramsay admits that Seibel failed or refused to disclose—and as a result Ramsay was not

aware of—the tax investigation that resulted in the felony judgment against Seibel in April 2016.

Ramsay is without sufficient information to admit or deny the allegations in paragraph 37
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regarding whether PH was aware of the tax investigation in April 2016, and basing his denial on

this ground, denies that allegation.

38. Ramsay denies each and every allegation in paragraph 38, except that Ramsay

states that the letter dated September 21, 2016 sent to GRB speaks for itself and denies each and

every allegation in paragraph 38 that is inconsistent with the letter.

39. Ramsay denies each and every allegation in paragraph 39.

40. Ramsay denies each and every allegation in paragraph 40.

41. Ramsay is without sufficient information to admit or deny the allegations in

paragraph 41, and basing his denial on this ground, denies those allegations.

42. Ramsay is without sufficient information to admit or deny the allegations in

paragraph 42, and basing his denial on this ground, denies those allegations.

43. Ramsay is without sufficient information to admit or deny the allegations in

paragraph 43, and basing his denial on this ground, denies those allegations.

44. Ramsay denies each and every allegation in paragraph 44.

45. Ramsay denies each and every allegation in paragraph 45, except that Ramsay

admits that GRUS did not consent to Seibel’s proposal to transfer his interest in GRB to The

Seibel Family 2016 Trust.

46. Ramsay is without sufficient information to admit or deny the allegations directed

at PH in paragraph 46, and basing his denial on this ground, denies those allegations. Ramsay

denies each and every allegation in paragraph 46 to the extent those allegations are directed at

Ramsay.

47. Ramsay is without sufficient information to admit or deny the allegations directed

at PH in paragraph 47, and basing his denial on this ground, denies those allegations. Ramsay

denies each and every allegation in paragraph 47 to the extent those allegations are directed at

Ramsay.

48. Ramsay denies each and every allegation in paragraph 48.

49. Ramsay denies each and every allegation in paragraph 49.

50. Ramsay denies each and every allegation in paragraph 50, except that Ramsay is
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without sufficient information to admit or deny the allegations directed at PH regarding the

relationships between Caesars and other affiliates of PH with persons or entities that are not parties

to this lawsuit, and therefore denies the same.

51. Ramsay denies each and every allegation in paragraph 51, except that Ramsay is

without sufficient information to admit or deny the allegations directed at PH regarding the

relationships between Caesars and other affiliates of PH with persons or entities that are not parties

to this lawsuit, and basing his denial on this ground, denies those allegations.

52. Ramsay denies each and every allegation in paragraph 52, except that Ramsay is

without sufficient information to admit or deny the allegations directed at PH regarding the

relationships between Caesars and other affiliates of PH with persons or entities that are not parties

to this lawsuit, and basing his denial on this ground, denies those allegations.

53. Ramsay denies each and every allegation in paragraph 53.

54. Ramsay states that the Development Agreement speaks for itself and denies each

and every allegation in paragraph 54 that is inconsistent with the Development Agreement.

55. Ramsay states that the Development Agreement speaks for itself and denies each

and every allegation in paragraph 55 that is inconsistent with the Development Agreement.

56. Ramsay denies each and every allegation in paragraph 56, except that Ramsay

admits that the Restaurant remained open for business through March 31, 2017 and that PH has

accrued but not paid the License Fee during the wind-up period. Ramsay is without sufficient

information to admit or deny the allegation regarding the annual profits generated by the

Restaurant during the wind-up period, and basing his denial on this ground, denies that allegation.

57. Ramsay denies each and every allegation in paragraph 57, except that Ramsay

admits that following termination of the Development Agreement the Restaurant remained open

and continued to use the GRB Marks and General GR Materials during the wind-up period, and

admits that some portion of the accrued license fees was paid to GRUS in error after this action

was filed, which payment was promptly returned by GRUS.

58. Ramsay is without sufficient information to admit or deny the allegations in

paragraph 58, and basing his denial on this ground, denies those allegations.
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59. Ramsay denies each and every allegation in paragraph 59 to the extent those

allegations are directed at Ramsay.

60. Ramsay denies each and every allegation in paragraph 60, except that Ramsay

admits that PH is operating a new restaurant, called Gordon Ramsay Burger, at the location

previously occupied by the restaurant known as “BURGR Gordon Ramsay” and that neither GRB

nor Seibel has an interest in the new restaurant.

61. Ramsay admits that the new restaurant Gordon Ramsay Burger uses some of the

décor, kitchen and dining room equipment and features a limited number of menu items that were

previously offered at BURGR Gordon Ramsay, but denies the remaining allegations in Paragraph

61, and denies that any of the common elements constitute rights protected or protectable by GRB

pursuant to the Development Agreement.

62. Ramsay denies each and every allegation in paragraph 62.

63. Ramsay denies each and every allegation in paragraph 63, except that Ramsay

admits that Ramsay applied to the USPTO to trademark “GORDON RAMSAY BURGER” and

the USPTO refused the applied-for mark because of a likelihood of confusion with the registered

mark “BURGR GORDON RAMSAY” owned by GR US Licensing L.P. Ramsay avers that the

license agreement referred to in this paragraph was terminated on September 22, 2016.

64. Ramsay denies each and every allegation in paragraph 64, and more specifically:

a. Ramsay denies each and every allegation in paragraph 64(a), except that

Ramsay states that the Development Agreement speaks for itself and denies each and every

allegation in paragraph 64(a) that is inconsistent with the Development Agreement.

b. Ramsay denies each and every allegation in paragraph 64(b).

c. Ramsay denies each and every allegation in paragraph 64(c).

d. Ramsay denies each and every allegation in paragraph 64(d).

65. Ramsay denies each and every allegation in paragraph 65, except that Ramsay

admits that PH owes certain accrued, but unpaid, License Fees for a period of time that PH

operated the restaurant known as “BURGR Gordon Ramsay.”

66. Ramsay admits that Plaintiff is seeking an award of its fees and costs, but denies
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that Plaintiff is entitled to the requested relief from Ramsay. Ramsay further states that the

Development Agreement speaks for itself and denies each and every allegation in paragraph 66

that is inconsistent with the Development Agreement.

67. Ramsay admits that GRB requests an accounting from PH. Ramsay denies each and

every remaining allegation of paragraph 67 to the extent those allegations are directed at Ramsay.

68. Ramsay admits that Seibel is requesting an award of his fees and costs, but denies

that Seibel is entitled to the requested relief. Ramsay states that the Delaware Code section cited in

paragraph 68 speaks for itself and denies each and every allegation in paragraph 68 to the extent

the allegations are inconsistent with the Delaware Code.

FIRST CAUSE OF ACTION
Breaches of Contract

(Against All Defendants)

69. The allegations contained in paragraph 69 state legal conclusions to which no

answer is required. To the extent an answer is required, Ramsay admits that the Development

Agreement was a valid and enforceable contract among GRB, PH, and Ramsay until it was

terminated on September 21, 2016, and denies each and every remaining allegation in paragraph

69.

70. The allegations in paragraph 70 are not directed at Ramsay, and therefore do not

require a response. Ramsay denies each and every allegation in paragraph 70 to the extent those

allegations are directed at Ramsay, and more specifically:

a. Ramsay denies each and every allegation in paragraph 70(a).

b. Ramsay denies each and every allegation in paragraph 70(b).

c. Ramsay denies each and every allegation in paragraph 70(c).

d. Ramsay denies each and every allegation in paragraph 70(d), except that

Ramsay admits that PH owes certain accrued, but unpaid, License Fees for a period of time that

PH operated the restaurant known as “BURGR Gordon Ramsay.”

e. Ramsay denies each and every allegation in paragraph 70(e).

f. Ramsay denies each and every allegation in paragraph 70(f).

g. Ramsay denies each and every allegation in paragraph 70(g).
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71. Ramsay denies each and every allegation in paragraph 71, and more specifically:

a. Ramsay denies each and every allegation in paragraph 71(a).

b. Ramsay denies each and every allegation in paragraph 71(b).

c. Ramsay denies each and every allegation in paragraph 71(c).

d. Ramsay denies each and every allegation in paragraph 71(d).

e. Ramsay denies each and every allegation in paragraph 71(e).

f. Ramsay denies each and every allegation in paragraph 71(f).

72. Ramsay denies each and every allegation in paragraph 72, except that Ramsay

admits that PH owes certain accrued, but unpaid, License Fees for a period of time that PH

operated the restaurant known as “BURGR Gordon Ramsay.”

73. Ramsay admits that GRB is seeking an award of its fees and costs, but denies that

GRB is entitled to the requested relief from Ramsay.

SECOND CAUSE OF ACTION
Contractual Breaches of the Implied Covenant of Good Faith and Fair Dealing

(Against All Defendants)

74. The allegations contained in paragraph 74 state legal conclusions to which no

answer is required. To the extent an answer is required, Ramsay admits that Nevada recognizes the

implied covenant of good faith and fair dealing but denies that Ramsay violated any implied

covenant.

75. The allegations contained in paragraph 75 state legal conclusions to which no

answer is required. To the extent an answer is required, Ramsay admits that the Development

Agreement was a binding and enforceable contact that has been terminated and that Nevada

recognizes the implied covenant of good faith and fair dealing but denies that Ramsay violated any

implied covenant.

76. The allegations in paragraph 76 are not directed at Ramsay, and therefore do not

require a response. Ramsay denies each and every allegation in paragraph 76 to the extent those

allegations are directed at Ramsay, and more specifically:

a. Ramsay denies each and every allegation in paragraph 76(a).

b. Ramsay denies each and every allegation in paragraph 76(b).
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c. Ramsay denies each and every allegation in paragraph 76(c).

d. Ramsay denies each and every allegation in paragraph 76(d).

e. Ramsay denies each and every allegation in paragraph 76(e).

f. Ramsay denies each and every allegation in paragraph 76(f).

g. Ramsay denies each and every allegation in paragraph 76(g).

h. Ramsay denies each and every allegation in paragraph 76(h), except that

Ramsay admits that PH owes certain accrued, but unpaid, License Fees for a period of time that

PH operated the restaurant known as “BURGR Gordon Ramsay.”

i. Ramsay denies each and every allegation in paragraph 76(i).

j. Ramsay denies each and every allegation in paragraph 76(j).

k. Ramsay denies each and every allegation in paragraph 76(k).

l. Ramsay is without sufficient information to admit or deny the allegations in

paragraph 76(l), and basing his denial on this ground, denies those allegations.

m. Ramsay denies each and every allegation in paragraph 76(m).

n. Ramsay denies each and every allegation in paragraph 76(n).

o. The allegations in paragraph 76(o) state legal conclusions to which no

answer is required. To the extent an answer is required, Ramsay is without sufficient information

to admit or deny the allegations in paragraph 76(o) directed at PH, and basing his denial on this

ground, denies those allegations.

77. Ramsay denies each and every allegation in paragraph 77, and more specifically:

a. Ramsay denies each and every allegation in paragraph 77(a).

b. Ramsay denies each and every allegation in paragraph 77(b).

c. Ramsay denies each and every allegation in paragraph 77(c).

d. Ramsay denies each and every allegation in paragraph 77(d).

e. Ramsay denies each and every allegation in paragraph 77(e).

f. Ramsay denies each and every allegation in paragraph 77(f).

g. Ramsay denies each and every allegation in paragraph 77(g).

h. Ramsay denies each and every allegation in paragraph 77(h).
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i. Ramsay denies each and every allegation in paragraph 77(i).

j. Ramsay denies each and every allegation in paragraph 77(j).

78. Ramsay denies each and every allegation in paragraph 78, except that Ramsay

acknowledges that PH owes certain accrued, but unpaid, License Fees for a period of time that PH

operated the restaurant known as “BURGR Gordon Ramsay.”

79. Ramsay admits that GRB is seeking an award of its fees and costs, but denies that

GRB is entitled to the requested relief from Ramsay.

THIRD CAUSE OF ACTION
Unjust Enrichment

(Against All Defendants)

80. Ramsay adopts and incorporates by reference his responses to the preceding

paragraphs as if fully set out herein.

81. The allegations in paragraph 81 are not directed at Ramsay, and therefore do not

require a response. In addition, the allegations contained in paragraph 81 state legal conclusions to

which no answer is required. To the extent an answer is required, Ramsay admits the Development

Agreement conferred certain benefits upon PH, but denies each and every remaining allegation in

paragraph 81.

82. The allegations in paragraph 82 are not directed at Ramsay, and therefore do not

require a response. To the extent an answer is required, Ramsay denies each and every allegation

in paragraph 82, except that Ramsay acknowledges that PH owes certain accrued, but unpaid,

License Fees for a period of time that PH operated the restaurant known as “BURGR Gordon

Ramsay.”

83. Ramsay denies each and every allegation in paragraph 83.

84. Ramsay denies each and every allegation in paragraph 84.

85. Ramsay denies each and every allegation in paragraph 85.

FOURTH CAUSE OF ACTION
Civil Conspiracy

(Against All Defendants)

86. Ramsay denies each and every allegation in paragraph 86.

87. Ramsay denies each and every allegation in paragraph 87.
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88. Ramsay denies each and every allegation in paragraph 88, except Ramsay admits

that (a) GRUS did not consent to Seibel’s proposal to transfer his interest in GRB to The Seibel

Family 2016 Trust, resign as manager of GRB, and appoint Craig Green as manager of GRB, and

(b) Ramsay and GRUS demanded that Seibel disassociate from GRB.

89. Ramsay denies each and every allegation in paragraph 89, except that Ramsay

states the letter dated September 15, 2016 from Dan R. Reaser to Mark A. Clayton speaks for itself

and denies each and every allegation in paragraph 89 that is inconsistent with that letter.

90. The allegations in paragraph 90 are not directed at Ramsay, and therefore do not

require a response. To the extent an answer is required, Ramsay denies each and every allegation

in paragraph 90.

91. Ramsay denies each and every allegation in paragraph 91, except that Ramsay

admits that the Development Agreement was terminated on September 21, 2016 pursuant to

Section 4.2.5 on grounds that GRB failed to dissociate with an Unsuitable Person.

92. Ramsay denies each and every allegation in paragraph 92.

IV. ADDITIONAL REQUESTS FOR RELIEF

A. Request for Specific Performance Against PH

93. The allegations contained in paragraph 93 state legal conclusions to which no

answer is required. Moreover, the quoted text set forth in paragraph 93 does not contain a citation

to the origin of the purported authority. To the extent an answer is required, Ramsay denies each

and every allegation in paragraph 93.

94. Ramsay states that the Development Agreement speaks for itself and denies each

and every allegation in paragraph 94 that is inconsistent with the Development Agreement.

95. The allegations contained in paragraph 95 state legal conclusions to which no

answer is required. To the extent an answer is required, Ramsay states that the Development

Agreement speaks for itself and denies each and every allegation in paragraph 95 that is

inconsistent with the Development Agreement.

96. Ramsay denies each and every allegation in paragraph 96, except that Ramsay

admits that PH owes certain accrued, but unpaid, License Fees for a period of time that PH
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operated the restaurant known as “BURGR Gordon Ramsay.”

97. Ramsay denies each and every allegation in paragraph 97.

98. The allegations contained in paragraph 98 state legal conclusions to which no

answer is required. To the extent an answer is required, Ramsay avers that GRB performed its

obligations under the Development Agreement but that actions and inaction of Seibel provided

grounds for PH to terminate the Development Agreement.

99. Ramsay admits that Plaintiff requests an order compelling PH to pay the License

fee to GRB, and additional relief identified in paragraph 99. Ramsay denies each and every

allegation in paragraph 99 to the extent those allegations are directed at Ramsay.

B. Request for Declaratory Relief Against PH Under Nev. Rev. Stat. § 30 re: the Validity
of the Alleged Termination of the Development Agreement.

100. Ramsay denies each and every allegation in paragraph 100, except that Ramsay

admits that Plaintiff seeks an order declaring that the Development Agreement was not properly

terminated and that it therefore remains in full force and effect.

101. Ramsay admits the allegation in paragraph 101 that GRB entered into the

Development Agreement with PHW Las Vegas, LLC dba Planet Hollywood by its manager, PHW

Manager, LLC, and Ramsay.

102. Ramsay admits that the Development Agreement identified PHW Manager, LLC as

the manager of PHW Las Vegas, LLC, and states that the Development Agreement speaks for

itself and denies each and every allegation in paragraph 102 that is inconsistent with the

Development Agreement.

103. Ramsay is without sufficient information to admit or deny the allegations in

paragraph 103, and basing his denial on this ground, denies those allegations.

104. Ramsay states that the letter dated September 21, 2016 from M. Clayton to Ramsay,

GRB, B. Ziegler, and M. Thomas speaks for itself and denies each and every allegation in

paragraph 104 that is inconsistent with that letter.

105. The allegations contained in paragraph 105 state legal conclusions to which no

answer is required. To the extent an answer is required, denied.
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106. The allegations contained in paragraph 106 state legal conclusions to which no

answer is required. To the extent an answer is required, denied.

107. The allegations in paragraph 107 are not directed at Ramsay, and therefore do not

require a response. To the extent an answer is required, Ramsay denies each and every allegation

in paragraph 107.

108. The allegations contained in paragraph 108 state legal conclusions to which no

answer is required. To the extent an answer is required, denied.

109. Ramsay admits that Plaintiff seeks the relief identified in paragraph 109, but

Ramsay denies that Plaintiff is entitled to the relief sought.

110. Ramsay admits that Plaintiff requests additional relief identified in paragraph 110,

but Ramsay denies that Plaintiff is entitled to the relief sought.

C. Declaratory Relief Against All Defendants Under Nev. Rev. Stat. § 30 re: the Parties’
Rights and Obligations Under the Development Agreement.

111. Ramsay denies each and every allegation in paragraph 111.

112. Ramsay admits that Plaintiff seeks a declaration concerning the items identified in

paragraph 112(a)-(f), but generally denies that Plaintiff is entitled to the relief sought, specifically:

a. Ramsay denies each and every allegation in paragraph 112(a).

b. Ramsay denies each and every allegation in paragraph 112(b).

c. Ramsay denies each and every allegation in paragraph 112(c).

d. Ramsay states that the Development Agreement speaks for itself and denies

each and every allegation in paragraph 112(d) that is inconsistent with the Development

Agreement, but admits that PH owes certain accrued, but unpaid, License Fees for a period of time

that PH operated the restaurant known as “BURGR Gordon Ramsay.”

e. Ramsay denies each and every allegation in paragraph 112(e).

f. Ramsay denies each and every allegation in paragraph 112(f).

113. Ramsay admits that Plaintiff requests additional relief identified in paragraph 113,

but Ramsay denies that Plaintiff is entitled to the relief sought.

//
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D. Request for an Accounting from PH.

114. Ramsay states that the Development Agreement speaks for itself and denies each

and every allegation in paragraph 114 that is inconsistent with the Development Agreement.

115. The allegations in paragraph 115 are not directed at Ramsay, and therefore do not

require a response. In addition, those allegations state legal conclusions to which no answer is

required. To the extent an answer is required, Ramsay denies that Plaintiff is entitled to the relief

sought.

116. Ramsay denies the allegations in paragraph 116.

117. Ramsay is without sufficient information to admit or deny the allegations in

paragraph 117 directed at PH, and basing his denial on this ground, denies those allegations.

118. Ramsay admits that Plaintiff requests the relief identified in paragraph 118, but

denies that Plaintiff is entitled to the relief sought from Ramsay.

E. Request for an Injunction / Restraining Order Against All Defendants

119. Ramsay states that the Development Agreement speaks for itself and denies each

and every allegation in paragraph 119 that is inconsistent with the Development Agreement.

120. Ramsay denies each and every allegation in paragraph 120.

121. Ramsay denies each and every allegation in paragraph 121 that is directed at

Ramsay. Ramsay also denies each and every allegation in paragraph 121 that is directed at PH,

except that Ramsay acknowledges that PH owes certain accrued, but unpaid, License Fees for a

period of time that PH operated the restaurant known as “BURGR Gordon Ramsay.”

122. Ramsay admits that Plaintiff requests the relief identified in paragraph 122, but

Ramsay denies that Plaintiff is entitled to the relief sought.

123. Ramsay denies each and every allegation in paragraph 123.

Ramsay denies each and every allegation set forth in the Complaint that is not expressly

admitted above.

Ramsay denies that Plaintiff is entitled to the judgment or any further relief sought in its

PRAYER FOR RELIEF set forth in paragraphs A-G on pages 25 of its Complaint against Ramsay.
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AFFIRMATIVE DEFENSES

Ramsay’s investigation of these claims is continuing. By this Answer, Ramsay waives no

affirmative defenses and reserves his right to amend the Answer to insert any subsequently

discovered and supported affirmative defenses.

FIRST AFFIRMATIVE DEFENSE

Plaintiff’s Complaint and each and every claim for relief alleged therein fails to state a

claim against Ramsay upon which relief can be granted.

SECOND AFFIRMATIVE DEFENSE

Plaintiff’s claims are barred, in whole or in part, because Seibel failed to comply with the

terms of the Development Agreement, including his failure to disclose that he was under

investigation by the Internal Revenue Service for violations of federal tax law, that he plead guilty

to violations of federal tax law, and that judgment was entered against him on his guilty plea in the

U.S. District Court for the Southern District of New York.

THIRD AFFIRMATIVE DEFENSE

Ramsay is entitled to rescission of the Development Agreement because his agreement was

obtained by fraudulent representations or omissions by Seibel regarding the fact that he had

committed, was committing, and was under investigation by the Internal Revenue Service for

violations of federal tax law at all relevant times, including on and before the effective date of the

Development Agreement.

FOURTH AFFIRMATIVE DEFENSE

To the extent Plaintiff’s claims are based in whole or in part on alleged oral promises or

statements, they are barred by the parol evidence rule, the doctrine of merger, integration, lack of

mutuality and failure of consideration.

FIFTH AFFIRMATIVE DEFENSE

Plaintiff’s claims are barred, in whole or in part, because Ramsay performed any and all

contractual, statutory, or equitable duties or action required by the Development Agreement,

except for those duties that were discharged or excused from performance.

//
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SIXTH AFFIRMATIVE DEFENSE

Plaintiff’s claims are barred, in whole or in part, by the doctrines of fraud, unilateral

mistake and/or mutual mistake.

SEVENTH AFFIRMATIVE DEFENSE

Plaintiff’s claims are barred, in whole or in part, because Plaintiff has no right to the

distinctive trade name, service mark, trademark, logo, emblem and indica or origin, in the mark

“BURGR Gordon Ramsay,” as more particularly set forth on Exhibit B to the Development

Agreement, or the name “Gordon Ramsay,” for any purpose whatsoever. Moreover, Plaintiff has

no right whatsoever to any specially created designs, and any and all copyrights and other

intangible property rights in them and in any package design, label, package insert, signage,

advertising, promotional or other material displaying the mark “BURGR Gordon Ramsay.”

EIGHTH AFFIRMATIVE DEFENSE

Plaintiff’s claims are barred, in whole or in part, by the terms of the License Agreement

between GRUS and Plaintiff. Plaintiff is barred from taking any action regarding infringement of

the mark “BURGR Gordon Ramsay” or any other intellectual property owned by GRUS without

the consent of GRUS, which consent has not been obtained.

NINTH AFFIRMATIVE DEFENSE

Plaintiff’s claims are barred, in whole or in part, by the doctrines of impracticability,

impossibility, and frustration of purpose.

TENTH AFFIRMATIVE DEFENSE

Plaintiffs’ claims are barred by the doctrines of laches, estoppel, waiver, unjust

enrichment, and/or unclean hands.

ELEVENTH AFFIRMATIVE DEFENSE

Plaintiff's claim for breach of the covenant of good faith and fair dealing is barred by

Seibel’s own breach of that covenant.

TWELFTH AFFIRMATIVE DEFENSE

Plaintiff has failed to join necessary and indispensable parties.
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THIRTEENTH AFFIRMATIVE DEFENSE

Plaintiff’s claims are barred, in whole or in part, by the doctrines of waiver, estoppel,

quasi-estoppel and detrimental reliance.

FOURTEENTH AFFIRMATIVE DEFENSE

Plaintiff’s claims are barred, in whole or in part, by the doctrines of ratification and

consent.

FIFTEENTH AFFIRMATIVE DEFENSE

Plaintiff’s claims are barred, in whole or in part, by the doctrines of impracticability,

impossibility, and frustration of purpose.

FIFTEENTH AFFIRMATIVE DEFENSE

Seibel lacks standing to assert claims on behalf of GRB.

SIXTEENTH AFFIRMATIVE DEFENSE

Plaintiff is not entitled to injunctive relief on grounds that its request to enjoin termination

of the Development Agreement is moot; adequate legal remedies are available; and Plaintiff has no

rights to the mark “BURGR Gordon Ramsay,” including any specially created designs or other

material displaying the mark “BURGR Gordon Ramsay,” the name Gordon Ramsay, or the PH

Marks or Materials as that term is defined in the Development Agreement.

SEVENTEENTH AFFIRMATIVE DEFENSE

Plaintiff’s claims are barred, in whole or in part, because it has failed to mitigate any

damages or losses allegedly suffered, if any.

EIGHTEENTH AFFIRMATIVE DEFENSE

The damages, if any, that were allegedly sustained by Plaintiff as a result of the acts

described in the Complaint were caused in whole or were contributed to in part by reason of the

acts, omissions, negligence, and/or intentional misconduct of Seibel.

NINETEENTH AFFIRMATIVE DEFENSE

The damages, if any, that were allegedly sustained by Plaintiff as a result of the acts

described in the Complaint were caused in whole or were contributed to in part by reason of the
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acts, omissions, negligence, and/or intentional misconduct of one or more third parties over whom

Ramsay had no control.

TWENTIETH AFFIRMATIVE DEFENSE

Plaintiff has failed to plead any alleged acts or omissions of Ramsay sufficient to warrant

the consideration of general, expectation, consequential or compensatory damages.

TWENTY-FIRST AFFIRMATIVE DEFENSE

Plaintiff lacks standing because Plaintiff has no right to the distinctive trade name, service

mark, trademark, logo, emblem and indica or origin, in the mark “BURGR Gordon Ramsay,” as

more particularly set forth on Exhibit B to the Development Agreement, or the name “Gordon

Ramsay,” for any purpose whatsoever. Moreover, Plaintiff has no right whatsoever to any

specially created designs, and any and all copyrights and other intangible property rights in them

and in any package design, label, package insert, signage, advertising, promotional or other

material displaying the mark “BURGR Gordon Ramsay.” Claims for infringement, if any, are may

only be asserted by GRUS.

TWENTY-SECOND AFFIRMATIVE DEFENSE

Plaintiff is in breach of the Development Agreement and therefore cannot assert claims for

breach of the Development Agreement against Ramsay.

TWENTY-THIRD AFFIRMATIVE DEFENSE

Ramsay specifically gives notice that he intends to rely upon such other defenses as may

become available by law, pursuant to statute, or during discovery proceedings of this action, and

hereby reserve the right to amend his Answer and assert such defenses.

WHEREFORE, Ramsay demands the following relief:

A. That Plaintiff take nothing on its Complaint against Ramsay, that the Complaint be

dismissed with prejudice as to Ramsay, and that judgment be entered for Ramsay;

//

//

//

//
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B. That Ramsay be awarded his costs of suit and attorneys’ fees; and

C. That the Court grant such further relief as the Court may deem just and proper.

Dated: July 21, 2017 FENNEMORE CRAIG, P.C.

/s/ Allen J. Wilt
ALLEN J. WILT
State Bar No. 4798
JOHN D. TENNERT
State Bar No. 11728
300 East Second Street - Suite 1510
Reno, Nevada 89501
Tel: (775) 788-2200
Fax: (775) 786-1177

Attorneys for Gordon Ramsay
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CERTIFICATE OF SERVICE

I certify that I am an employee of FENNEMORE CRAIG, P.C., and that on this date,

pursuant to FRCP 5(b), I am serving a true and correct copy of the attached DEFENDANT

GORDON RAMSAY’S ANSWER AND AFFIRMATIVE DEFENSES TO FIRST AMENDED

VERIFIED COMPLAINT on the parties set forth below by:

X Placing an original or true copy thereof in a sealed envelope placed for
collection and mailing in the United States Mail, at Reno, Nevada, postage
prepaid, following ordinary business practices

______ Certified Mail, Return Receipt Requested

______ Via Facsimile (Fax)

______ Placing an original or true copy thereof in a sealed envelope and causing the
same to be personally Hand Delivered

______ Federal Express (or other overnight delivery)

X E-service effected by Eighth Judicial District Court E-Filing Service

addressed as follows:

Daniel R. McNutt
Matthew C. Wolf
CARBAJAL & MCNUTT, LLP
625 South Eighth Street
Las Vegas, NV 89101
Attorneys for Plaintiff

James J. Pisanelli
Debra L. Spinelli
Brittnie T. Watkins
PISANELLI BICE PLLC
400 South 7th Street, Suite 300
Las Vegas, NV 89101
Attorneys for PHWLV, LLC

Dated: July 21, 2017
/s/ Meg F. Byrd

An employee of FENNEMORE CRAIG, P.C.
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Case Number: A-17-751759-B

Electronically Filed
7/21/2017 9:44 PM
Steven D. Grierson
CLERK OF THE COURT
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Case Number: A-17-751759-B

Electronically Filed
7/28/2017 3:40 PM
Steven D. Grierson
CLERK OF THE COURT

AA01262



AA01263



AA01264



AA01265



AA01266



 
 
 

TAB 26 



 

1 

1 

2 

3 

4 

5 

6 

7 

8 

9 

10 

11 

12 

13 

14 

15 

16 

17 

18 

19 

20 

21 

22 

23 

24 

25 

26 

27 

28 

 

DANIEL R. MCNUTT (SBN 7815) 
MATTHEW C. WOLF (SBN 10801) 
CARBAJAL & MCNUTT, LLP 
625 South Eighth Street 
Las Vegas, Nevada 89101 
Tel. (702) 384-1170 / Fax. (702) 384-5529 
drm@cmlawnv.com  
mcw@cmlawnv.com 
Attorneys for Plaintiff 

DISTRICT COURT 

CLARK COUNTY, NEVADA 

 
ROWEN SEIBEL, an individual and citizen of 
New York, derivatively on behalf of Real Party 
in Interest GR BURGR LLC, a Delaware 
limited liability company, 
 

Plaintiff, 
 
v. 
 
PHWLV, LLC, a Nevada limited liability 
company; GORDON RAMSAY, an individual; 
DOES I through X; ROE CORPORATIONS I 
through X, 
 

Defendants, 
 
and 
 
GR BURGR LLC, a Delaware limited liability 
company,  
 

Nominal Plaintiff. 
 

AND ALL RELATED MATTERS 

Case No.: A-17-751759-B 
 
Dept. No.: 15 
 
PLAINTIFF’S REPLY TO DEFENDANT 
PHWLV, LLC’S COUNTERCLAIMS 

 

Plaintiff Rowen Seibel, individually and derivatively on behalf of GR BURGR LLC 

(“Plaintiff”) hereby responds to the Counterclaims (“PH Counterclaims”) of Defendant PHWLV, 

LLC (“PH”) dated July 21, 2017, as follows: 

1. Plaintiff admits the allegations contained in paragraph 1. 

2. Plaintiff admits the allegations contained in paragraph 2. 

3. Plaintiff denies knowledge or information sufficient to admit or deny the allegations 

contained in Paragraph 3. 

4. Paragraph 4 contains legal conclusions to which no response is required. 

Case Number: A-17-751759-B

Electronically Filed
8/25/2017 2:33 PM
Steven D. Grierson
CLERK OF THE COURT
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5. Plaintiff admits the allegations contained in paragraph 5. 

6. Plaintiff admits the allegations contained in paragraph 6. 

7. Plaintiff denies the allegations contained in paragraph 7, except admits, upon 

information and belief, that PH is a Nevada gaming licensee and is subject to regulation of the 

Nevada Gaming Commission. 

8. Plaintiff denies knowledge or information sufficient to admit or deny the allegations 

contained in Paragraph 8. 

9. Plaintiff denies the allegations contained in paragraph 9, and refers to the 

Development Agreement for the full and complete contents thereof. 

10. Plaintiff denies knowledge or information sufficient to admit or deny the allegations 

contained in Paragraph 10. 

11. Plaintiff denies the allegations contained in paragraph 11, and refers to the 

Development Agreement for the full and complete contents thereof. 

12. Plaintiff denies the allegations contained in paragraph 12, and refers to the 

Development Agreement for the full and complete contents thereof. 

13. Plaintiff denies the allegations contained in paragraph 13, and refers to the 

Development Agreement for the full and complete contents thereof. 

14. Plaintiff denies the allegations contained in paragraph 14, and refers to the 

Development Agreement for the full and complete contents thereof. 

15. Plaintiff denies the allegations contained in paragraph 15, and refers to the 

Development Agreement for the full and complete contents thereof. 

16. Plaintiff denies the allegations contained in paragraph 16, except admits that in 2009 

Plaintiff signed an application to participate in a voluntary disclosure program with the Internal 

Revenue Service. 

17. Plaintiff admits the allegations contained in paragraph 17. 

18. Plaintiff admits the allegations contained in paragraph 18. 

19. Plaintiff denies the allegations contained in paragraph 19. 

20. Plaintiff denies the allegations contained in paragraph 20. 
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21. Plaintiff denies the allegations contained in paragraph 21.  

22. Plaintiff denies the allegations contained in paragraph 22. 

23. Plaintiff denies the allegations contained in paragraph 23. 

24. Plaintiff denies the allegations contained in paragraph 24. 

25. Plaintiff denies the allegations contained in paragraph 25. 

26. Plaintiff denies the allegations contained in paragraph 26. 

27. Plaintiff denies the allegations contained in paragraph 27. 

FIRST CAUSE OF ACTION 

28. Plaintiff repeats and reiterates each and every response to paragraphs 1 through 27 as 

if set forth fully herein. 

29. Plaintiff denies the allegations contained in paragraph 29. 

30. Plaintiff denies the allegations contained in paragraph 30. 

31. Plaintiff denies the allegations contained in paragraph 31. 

32. Plaintiff denies the allegations contained in paragraph 32. 

33. Plaintiff denies the allegations contained in paragraph 33. 

34. Plaintiff denies the allegations contained in paragraph 34. 

35. Plaintiff denies the allegations contained in paragraph 35. 

SECOND CAUSE OF ACTION 

36. Plaintiff repeats and reiterates each and every response to paragraphs 1 through 35 as 

if set forth fully herein. 

37. Plaintiff denies the allegations contained in paragraph 37. 

38. Plaintiff denies the allegations contained in paragraph 38. 

39. Plaintiff denies the allegations contained in paragraph 39. 

40. Plaintiff denies the allegations contained in paragraph 40. 

41. Plaintiff denies that PH is entitled to any relief for the claims contained in the 

Counterclaims and denies PH is entitled to each and every claim for relief set forth in the Prayer for 

Relief. 
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AFFIRMATIVE AND OTHER DEFENSES 

FIRST AFFIRMATIVE DEFENSE 

1. The Counterclaims, and each cause of action contained therein, fail to state a cause of 

action upon which relief may be granted. 

SECOND AFFIRMATIVE DEFENSE 

2. The claims set forth in the Counterclaims are barred, in whole or in part, by the 

doctrine of estoppels. 

THIRD AFFIRMATIVE DEFENSE 

3. The claims set forth in the Counterclaims are barred, in whole or in part, by the 

doctrine of unclean hands. 

FOURTH AFFIRMATIVE DEFENSE 

4. The claims set forth in the Counterclaims are barred, in whole or in part, by the 

doctrine of unjust enrichment. 

FIFTH AFFIRMATIVE DEFENSE 

5. The claims set forth in the Counterclaims are barred, in whole or in part, by a failure to 

mitigate its damages. 

SIXTH AFFIRMATIVE DEFENSE 

6. The claims set forth in the Complaint are barred, in whole or in part, by virtue of PH’s 

breach of contract 

SEVENTH AFFIRMATIVE DEFENSE 

7. Plaintiff’s claims are barred by its own culpable conduct 

EIGHTH AFFIRMATIVE DEFENSE 

8. At all relevant times, Plaintiff acted reasonably in good faith and with justification. 

NINTH AFFIRMATIVE DEFENSE 

9. PH’s counterclaims are barred due to its breach of the implied covenant of good faith 

and fair dealing.   
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ADDITIONAL DEFENSES 

10. Plaintiff respectfully reserves its right to assert additional defenses based on 

information learned or obtained during discovery. 

DATED: August 25, 2017. 

    CARBAJAL & MCNUTT, LLP 

      

/s/ Dan McNutt                                    
 DANIEL R. MCNUTT (SBN 7815) 

MATTHEW C. WOLF (SBN 10801) 
625 South Eighth Street 
Las Vegas, Nevada 89101 
Attorneys for Plaintiff 
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CERTIFICATE OF MAILING 

 I HEREBY CERTIFY that pursuant to Nev. R. Civ. P. 5(b) and EDCR 8.05 on August 25, 

2017, I caused service of the foregoing PLAINTIFF’S REPLY TO DEFENDANT PHWLV, 

LLC’S COUNTERCLAIMS by mailing a copy by United States Postal Service, postage prepaid, 

via email, and/or via electronic mail through the United States District Court’s CM/ECF system to the 

following at their last known address and e-mail:  

 
James Pisanelli, Esq. (SBN 4027) 
Debra Spinelli, Esq. (SBN 9695) 
Brittnie Watkins, Esq. (SBN 13612) 
PISANELLI BICE PLLC 
400 South 7

th
 Street, Suite 300 

Las Vegas, NV 89101 
jjp@pisanellibice.com 
dls@pisanellibice.com 
btw@pisanellibice.com 
Attorneys for Defendant 
PHWLV, LLC 
 
Allen Wilt, Esq. (SBN 4798) 
John Tennert, Esq. (SBN 11728) 
FENNEMORE CRAIG, P.C. 
300 East 2

nd
 Street, Suite 1510 

Reno, NV 89501 
awilt@fclaw.com  
jtennert@fclaw.com  
Attorneys for Defendant 
Gordon Ramsay 
 
 
      /s/ Lisa A. Heller                                  . 

      An Employee of Carbajal & McNutt LLP 
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Case Number: A-17-751759-B

Electronically Filed
9/1/2017 2:05 PM
Steven D. Grierson
CLERK OF THE COURT
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